“Insull bad piled
equities upon equities,
securities upon
securities,” Colonel
Crown explained.

“He’d issue preferred
stock and then a
second preferred stock
and then a third
preferred stock.”

their worth and something unforeseen
occurs, that optimistic appraisal backfires.
When those auditors reported to First
National that we were in good shape,

that saved us.”

Yet behind the scenes, Henry’s
company was still being threatened.
Investors of the Consumer Company
were working hard to gain Anderson’s
confidence, trying (as always) to discredit
Material Service and keep the First
National Bank from backing it. “But
these efforts boomeranged,” Anderson
remembered. “I became more determined
to help Crown save his company.”

It was the Consumer Company’s own
soundness which was falling into question,
mostly because, in the wake of the stock
crash, Insull’s financial empire lay in ruins.
“Insull had piled equities upon equities,
securities upon securities,” Colonel Crown
explained. “He'd issue preferred stock and
then a second preferred stock and then a
third preferred stock. When things were

going well, that was fine. He could pay the
carrying charges on these junior securities.
He created a vast pyramid of nonworking
trusts and holding companies, then mass-
marketed stocks in those firms while
using the proceeds to secure his control
of other companies.

“But when things started going badly,”
the Colonel continued, “when maturities
on all these securities came together so

tangled, there was a question whether Mr.

HENRY ¢ ROWN

Insull himself knew how much he'd have
to account for, and he and all his holdings
collapsed.”

Henry's association with Hugo
Anderson turned out to be a hugely signifi-
cant one: the most essential of all his
wide-ranging business relationships, second
only, perhaps, to that with Conrad Hilron
following World War II. Both men, while
very different, shared fundamental princi-
ples. Anderson'’s training at the First
National Bank had imbued him with a
strong sense of ethics. Honesty was better
than gain, he was taught. “It is better to
be the best bank, rather than the largest
bank.” After two years of retaining Henry's
Foreman Bank loans, Anderson decided
to transfer the debt, so that the notes
became those of the First National Bank
of Chicago. It was, Henry knew, a major
gesture of good faith; but along with it
came a stern warning:

“This 1s also a time we should come
to a complete understanding of what we
demand of each other,” Anderson admon-
ished. “I am not trying to run a Sunday
School, but we must be clear as to what
we consider a lie. It doesn't matter whether
it's a white or a black lie. I might ask a
question which you could answer frankly,
but you know in your own mind I have
not received the information [ was secking.
Under those circumstances I must have
more than a yes or no. | don't believe the
day will come when you would deceive me.

but you will never have a sccond chance,

should vou try it.”

Such a lecture, of course. was wasted
on Henry. He might not have expressed
himself in such formal terms. but his own
philosophy of business dealings was. point
for point, just the same.

&
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To help lift Material Service back
to a steady financial footing, Anderson
recommendecd a man named Martn
Tveter to serve for two years as comptrol-
ler. Tveter had worked the same job for
Chicago’s 1933 A Century of Progress
world’s fair, which, held as it was in the
teeth of the Depression, had given Tverer
ample chance to prove his mertle.

As he began his new assignment,
Tveter learned about the informal payment
schedules afforded many contractors
Material Service supplied. Far roo informal,
in the new comptroller’s cyes. He contacted
one of MSC’s longtime customers, suggest-
ing firmly that he bring his account up
to date. The customer complained to
Henry, who in turn confronted Tveter
with outrage. He'd built his business based
on trust, not on rigid accounting, and
that approach wasn't going to change.

Not for Tveter, or the bank, or anyone
else, for that matter!

“[Tveter’s] reaction,” Anderson
remembered, “was somcthing Mr. Crown
had never cxpcricnccd. Tveter very quietly
told him never to enter his ottice without
ascertaining 1t he were free to see him
and then, picking up his hat. left 1o

report Lo me.

“Tveter, after explaining what had
happened, added, ‘That is the end of my
job.” ‘Not at all, Tveter,” I said. ‘T have your
promise that you would stay for a full two
vears. Go back and continue with your
responsibilities as if the incident had never
occurred, and [ assure you, you will never
hear of it again from Mr. Crown.” When
Tveter tinally left [Material Service] after
two years, Crown not only tried to per-
suade him to remain, but also sought my
influence. . . . to try to get him to return
at a very substantial salary.”

As Anderson’s regard for Henry
increased, so too did his financial com-
mitment. “I called in Crown’s largest
competitors,” Anderson wrote, “and told
them that [ was giving him a line of credit
sufficient for all of his company’s needs,
and that it was time for everyone to drop
the ‘dog eat dog’ attitude that was ruining
the industry.” Anderson suggested the
owners of the three largest material supply
companies meet, to try to resolve their dif-
ferences. They did so one week later at the
LaSalle Hotel, with Anderson himself
referceing. After many hours of hearing
the men air their gripes, Anderson con-
cluded that the problem was simple.
There was not enough business to support
combined operating costs. Why not,
during this cconomic crisis, agree to a
division of all monthly sales? The company
closest to a customer would receive his
business, thereby reducing the price

of transportation.

PHESNRY ¢ ROWN Vs THE GREAL DEPRESSTON



“Ihat last bite of
the apple was the
hardest to swallow,’
the Colonel remem-
bered, “but in the
end, the company

leaders agreed.”

>

He pointed out that thanks to their partic-
ipation in the war effort, Caterpillar and
Allis-Chambers machines would be in use
all over the world. The exposure to new
markets would be enormous; after the

war was over the companies would be
flooded with new orders. For this reason,
said the Colonel, Caterpillar should not
only charge regular prices, they should give
their government the 20 percent discount,
fair reward for the bonanza they were
certain to reap.

“That last bite of the apple was the
hardest to swallow,” the Colonel remem-
bered, “but in the end, the company
leaders agreed. They were decent men,
quite willing to help their country in any
way they could, but since nobody had ever
bothered to ask them for the discount,
they hadn't offered it themselves.”

As a result of those meetings Colonel
Crown initiated, the Caterpillar Tractor
Company refunded almost s1 million
on previously invoiced War Department
acquisitions, and Allis-Chalmers refunded
s1,975,000. Shortly after the checks had
been received by the Department of the
Army, a high-ranking officer from Wash-
ington visited Chicago headquarters to
compliment Colonel Crown for saving
his government such an extraordinary

amount of money.

HENRY  ROWN

I'told him T was surce thar if I hadn't

done it, someone clse would have some-

where a]()ng the line, only because it made
scnse.” The officer, however. no doubt

believed otherwise,

@/

—

I'j addition to his work for the US.
Government, Colonel Crown was responsi-
ble for Pr("'iding material to America’s
allies, including the Russian Army, which,
to his dismay_ received its supplies before
any allocation was made to the American
military. “And, of course, due to that
priority for the shipments to Russia, some
of our own military requirements were
reduced,” the Colonel said. “But I had
specific orders that | tollowed regardless
of my own f-C‘C‘llil’lgs. I presume the commit-
ment was made by our leaders, and all we
could do was follow their instructions.”
Also falling under Colonel Crown's
aegis was the production of “Targets,”
rubber decoys built to the exact specifica-
tions of real boats and barges that would
carry tanks and airplanes. “We needed huge
quantities of rubber for these Targets.”
Colonel Crown said. “That was an A-1
priority because rubber was in such short
supply, so we had to pursuc all the rubber
manufacturers and keep after them to
provide us the rubber we needed. We tested
those ’Ihrgcts once cold January dav in a

deserted arca of the Indiana dunes so the

boats would nort be seen. | flew in an Army
planc piloted by a major general and we
took a dozen acrial photographs. After
developing the pictures we had people in
the offices come in and wed ask them to
compare photographs of the rubber ships
and planes with the real thing, They
couldn’t tell one from the other.” Bomber
pilots, it turned our, were equally
perplexed. The Army and Navy used the
Targets as decoys thl‘oughout World War
11, distracting the encmy from real assaults,
and getting them to waste valuable
weapons,

While Colonel Crown's industry
knowledgc and contacts helped him get
better deals from manufacturers and
suppliers, he was careful not to let his own
companies gain from such arrangements.
The Colonel distributed an office directive
cautioning buyers not to send advertise-
ments or similar notices to Material
Service. And he was cqually scrupulous
regarding other companties in which he
held only a financial interest. On October
22, 1944, in a handwritten note to Colone]
Schmidpt, an cxecutive procurement officer,

he wrote regarding one such company:

Under no circumistances are you to issue any

orders regardless of size to Century Steel Company,
Chicago.

If material cannot possibly be obtained elsewhere
by bti\)ers, p/ms(‘ see e re those parn'i‘u/ar t'nqm'ri(‘s

and [ will attemnpt to pet I/erfz//rdr for vou. This,

of course, is not to be interpreted as any reflection
on Century Steel, but for personal reasons purchases
are not to be made from there as long as I am in

this office.

The “personal reasons?” Colonel

Crown owned stock in Century Steel.

&

e

In late 1944, the war in both theaters was
entering its final stage. In Europe, after
suffering great losses in the Battle of the
Bulge, America and its allies regrouped,
moving inexorably into German territory.
In January of 1945, Franklin Roosevelt was
inaugurated for his fourth term as presi-
dent, then died shortly afterwards at
Warm Springs, Georgia, just.a month
before Germany officially surrendered.

“We celebrated the surrender,”
Colonel Crown remembered, “but less
than one week later a Japanese kamikaze
plane struck the aircraft carrier Bunker Hill
off the island of Okinawa. Almost four
hundred young sailors were killed. That
was a terrible reminder to all of us that the
war wasn't over, that Japan still had the
capacity to hurt us.”

On August 6, 1945, the world was
stunned when a US. Air Force plane
dropped an atom bomb over Hiroshima,

Japan. The resulting destruction was terri-

T CcOPONEL

“That was a terrible

reminder to all of us

that the war wasn’t

over, that Japan still

had the capacity to
burt us.”



“He loved to play and
ke loved to bid high
and get the hands”

Canal, ending up at Miami Beach by
way of Havana. When they returned to
Chicago, Lester learned the “bad” news —

no more military school. He was mortified,

ves. But thanks to the trip, the blow was
sufficiently softened.

Just how much had the boy’s parents
sacrificed? “It was supposed to have been
their second honeymoon,” Lester Crown
remembered, “but they gave up on the idea,
just to get me out of that school.”

_—

To relax, Henry still rode horses during
the 1930s, but he had also pursued another
favorite activity, more sedentary, perhaps,
but in its own way just as full of speed,
action and surprises: pinochle.

“He loved to play and he loved to
bid high and get the hands,” remembered
Gardner Stern, who joined Colonel Crown
regularly at cards for 40 years, beginning
just after the war. “Whether he won or lost
didn't make any difference. His constant
phrase was, “Well, that's pinochle.”'

Henry and his circle (Dubi Sobel, Bill
Berger, Meyer Katz) played their games for
money. Not too much, just enough to keep
things interesting. When Henry lost he
would make good on the debt right away,
reaching into his inside jacket pocket and
bringing out the necessary cash. Hed get
the payment over quickly because moncy.

like winning, wasn't the point.

“He loved the game <o much
e h IS

) i &'!I!d
played 1t as wild as could be,”" said Hal‘old

Lipman, another man who gy Henry
much around the card able, = 1|11'nk‘h‘-‘
would rather win at pinochle than make
an Empire State Building deal, e just
loved the action.”

Games were on the weckends, rotating
among the different plavers' hoyses, or
sometimes taking place at the social clubs
where Henry now belonged. He and Irving
had joined the downtown Covepane Club:
which served mostly Eastern European
Jews. But Henry had been asked to join che
Standard Club. too. It had been founded
just after the Civil War by the cinv's
German Jewish community, The ‘Gm‘mnﬂ
Jews' sense of cultural superiority i“-hich
Arie had encountered so vears bt“ﬂart‘\- still
lingered in the 1930s. By in\'iring Henry
Crown to join their ranks, members of the
Standard Club were acknowledging his
growing stature in the city. o

Henry's social world expanded. as
well, into Chicago’s political scene. He was
rarcly involved n politics per se. and never
aspired to political power, but since he was
a prominent business I?gurv — one whose
business involved government building
projects — iteraction with politicians
became inevitable. But not entirely com-
plete. Henry was sorely lacking in one tratt
common to Jewish and Trish politicians

alike: namelv, a thirst for hquor.

“Iad drank. but not the wav thev dide”

[ester va].um‘d. “He would have one or

two drinks 1 a mght and he enjoved 1t

but he was never a SCrTOUsS drinker.” Once.

Wh{lc still aetting u:iL‘Ci o this new social
still g i

scene, Henry was invited to a

dinner held by the

political

function, the annual
prestigious Indiana Society. It was a formal
le-f-ﬂir, for men ()I]l)'. and Bea |!C]P\‘d ]‘|CI1:'_\'
dress in his tuxedo. At the dinner, not
surprisingly, the spirts flowed !‘:'-.‘cll\'. and
$00n so &i,:{ the insults. A name was called.
a cake was thrown. The intended rarget
ducked, but Henry didn't. And the only
thing more soiled than his pride was

his clothing.

(Henry'’s antipathy toward heavy
d!‘fnking solidified after this incident. Jim
O’Brien remembered how “once when Les
and [ were undergraduates in college, the
Colonel received a silver cocktail shaker
at Christmas. I was there when it was
unwrapped and the Colonel said, "Les,
why don't you make us a drink?” So Les
and I made a pitcher of martinis. We both
had one and the Colonel had one which
he didn't finish. Les and 1 started to have

a second martini and the Colonel said,

‘Nobody needs two of those and remember

what I'm telling you.™

Henry's closest friend m Chicago’s
political world of the 1930s was Jacob
Ar\'c_v, one of the city's most imfluential
Jewish men. Like Henryv, Arvey was the son
of a peddler. After graduating from John
Marshall Law School he worked m the
state's thnrnc_\"a office and also as a ciey
prosecutor. In 1922 Arvev was made a
Democratic precmet captam attdaton

with the Democratic Party was far from

automatic for Jews at that time), and after
managing many successful campaigns, he
was clected in 1932 as an alderman of the
West Side's 24th ward. But his success in
that year went much further still. Arvey
worked hard to gain votes for Franklin T -
Roosevelt (then running for his first term Jics ;ﬁd coroilies
as president) and, more remarkably, helped
clect Henry Horner, the only Jewish politi-
Cian ever fo Serve as governor of Illinots.
These were heady times of change
at all levels of politics, and through his
friendship with Arvey. Henry had a front
row scat. In 1933, Anron Cermak lost his
life — assassinated while at a rally for
Roosevelt in Miami, by a bullet prcsumably
intended for the president. The City
Council ;1ppointec[ Edward Kelly to replace
him, setting off a conflict which, according
to historian Edward Mazur, inflamed
“many of the submerged antagonisms
between German and Eastern European
Jews.” Kelly wanted the city to regulate
Chicago's saloons (newly opened with
‘. al of Prohibition), while Horner

the repe
should rest with the state.

thought control
Al'\'c:‘ sided with Kelly, and worked against
HOI'I“'[CI"S clection in 1936. While many
Jewish voters followed Arvey's direction,
IHorncr stll m;m;lgcd to narrowly prcvnil‘
But Arvey was unbowed. His role in city.
state ;md‘ national clections continued.
climaxing with his push for Adlai
511‘\1‘nsn\n':~' later pl‘L‘SldcntiM campaign.
Henry's soctal mvolvement with
Democratie politicans increased turther,

oddly enough, with his second introduc-

what I'm :‘;‘”fng you. £




Letter te Henry Crown
from Edward J. K:‘fz_’\,-,
mayor of Chrcago,
Agust 3, 1933. The
Colonel :?.‘"'ﬂ.';?_'.'_‘ sard that
‘.'."'\"r':i’fr'(j,"! {.'r._‘IfI :'L‘I!H.’:':‘:r
little in getting contracts,
He did admit, Fowever
that friends in kigh places
could i‘f!’;; whett it was

fime o grt p.m?’.

MAYOR
OFFICE OF THE MAYOR

CITY OF CHICAGO

August 3, 1933.

Mr. Henry Crown,

llzeterials Service Corporeation,
33 North LaSalle Street,
Chicago, Illincis.

Dear Mr. Crown:

The members of the American Association
of Port Authorities are to be af ficial guests of the City .
of Chicago on September 2nd and 3rd this year.

As you undoubtedly know, this orgenization
is composed of officials from the principal ports of the
United Stetes and Canada. Many of the members are of
national prominence. Chicago is to be honored by their
visit and, as the leading port on the Great Lakes, should
entertaein them in a fitting manner.

In order to insure the complete suecess of
the program of entertainment, I am eppointing a committee
to take cherge and I am asking you to serve as a member.
I trust that I may have your acceptance.

The first meeting of the committee will be
held in the Counecil Chamber of the City Hz=1l at 4 FPM.
londay, August Tth. I hope you will be able to attend.

With kindest personal regards, I am

Very sincerely yours,

EDWARD J KELLY

tion to the hotel business, 1is first
introduction had been with the contractor
Arthur Loreny. Together the two men

had built the Oak Park Arms Hotel, where
“we had some fun,” according to Colonel
Crown, “since Arthur decided hed also

be the night manager. Hed be at his con-
struction sites during the dav, eat dinner
at five, then put on his ruxedo and act
behind the desk. Sometimes, when he got
tired, I'd rake a brief period behind the
desk myself, answering the phone and
passing out keys to the auests. Later on

in my life | bought and sold many hotels,
but I must say that was my first and only
tenure as a desk clerk.” ’

Democratic Party ]u‘.‘ldqtmrlm‘s were
located at the Morrison Hotel, which in
the early 1930s filed for bankruptey. Judge
Michael Igoe, who was in charge of the
reorganization, knew | lenry and asked
that he serve as one of the directors. Henry
agreed, as he put i, “wlad to accommodate
the judge.”

Jim Mc( j;l]]t‘}' was president of the
Morrison Hotel. A major force in Chicago
politics, he ran the national party organiza-
ti()n aﬁ(‘l' (h(‘ war. [ '][\ ]‘I't'.‘\'l'l}k‘t' Li]‘l'\r’\' not
(m]}' the likes of Arvey, Democratc boss
Pat Nash, and Mavor Kelly, but. in later
years, a visit from | larry Truman himself.

anrylh l‘vlarmnx}up\ with political
ﬁgurm contimued to widen. Tle was friends
with Mavor Kelly, an Rvan head of the

county board . members of the civs bnld-

ing department. These associations were
certainly useful to his business, but not
in any underhanded way. Material Service
rarely sold directly to government entities
but rather to the contractors handling
government jobs. These contractors were
chosen by a scaled bidding process, so
there was no way to help their cause even
it Henry had wanted to. When it was time
for the contractors to be paid, however,
political contacts could bear results. Art
O'Connor (from sales) spent most of his
time at county, state and city hall offices,
tracking accounts payable, pushing for
MSC’s contractors to be compensated
quickly. \Vh}' the concern? Since most
contractors operated with a minimum of
working capital, they could make up their
debts to Material Service only once they
thL‘nlSL‘l\'L‘S hﬂd bl:l‘:l"l P&lﬂ‘l.

When Bill Armstrong started his
carcer at MSC in the financial department,
he quickly learned how personal relation-
ships could be of assistance, and also
learned about Henry Crown's mercurial
temper. “1 was handling the accounts of
the City of Chicago and the State of
linois.” Armstrong remembered, “and
'Henry] called me in and said, ‘T want you
to go over and find out how much we can
get in the month of December from the
city.”" Such accounts weren't paid up at
once, but over time as funds became avail-
able. Armstrong journeved to city hall, met

with the comptroller and | pleased with
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fter the

claest son began b

when we got back we learned the basement
was looded with three feet of water.
Everyvone staved up the rest of the night,
[I')'i:ig to get rid of the mess.” And chis
scenario was repeated many times that

first vear.

“Whenever it rained we had to go
down there, wading in that bascment,”
satd Lester, “\We Puslu‘d the water into
the swimmmg pool., then later drained
the h\\'inuning pool and scrubbed it down.
The house was really massive, all kinds
of electrical problems, but we had fun. I

think even my mother enjoved that house.

(7
The turmoil of war that was engulfing
l':m'n}w and Northern Africa as well as
the Far East was barely felt in evervday
American life. The COUNLTY'S CVes 5[‘.1_\1\‘1
fixed on the fight for cconomic recovery
that FDR had been waging with mixed
results for cight years. Hitler didn't concern
them, most Americans thought — vet
many Jews in the country were starting
to know betrer.

“Everybody wanted peace so much.”
Colonel Crown remembered, "and they
wanted to believe 1t was pnsml*hﬁ But the
reports we were getting from Jewish com-
munities in Europe made us understand
the war had already begun. We became
aware that it would only be a martter of

time l‘(‘f;!l'(‘ W were \|[T'\‘t'l !\' II1\'l1]\ \‘ki.

On December 7. 1941, the day that
President Roosevelt saird “shall forever live
in infamy,” Pearl Harbor was attacked by
the Japanese, and in the aftermath America
did go to war. Bob Crown was cager to take
part in the conflict. In 1942, a fow weeks
following his graduation from Northwest-
ern, he left for Newport. Rhode Island, to
join a Naval traming program there. His
father, too, held a decp, abiding love for the
country of his birth, the country that had
blessed him with so much opportunity and
remarkable success. | lenry Crown felt
himself in America’s debt, and had long
yearned to pay back what he owed. With

the war he at last had his chance.



Chicago
Yarch 17, 1942

General Williem K. Fose,

Office of General T. M. Robins,

Construction Division, U. S. Engineer Corps,
Failroed Fetirement Building,

®eghington, I'. C.

Dear General:

b frienc of mine, Fenry Crown, Chairmen of the
Service Corporation, in Chicego, came in to see me t
cozpany, which, es you mey kmow, furnishes building
gravel, cement, etc., has been built up since 1919 t
important organizations of its kind in this

one of the most

els that he
the event Bt he can be

should give his services to the gove
of velue. Last Saturday in Washing General Charles T. Harris,
of the Ordneance. Earris cent hinm rmstrong in Chicago; Arm-
strong being out of town he saw ¥i¢ Execut Officer who thought that
¥r. Crown woulc be more valusble ¢ ? neers than with the Ordnance.
fith this I agree.

STy~ 8 tic and competent, knowing
the building business £3 he country. He is willing
to give up his busineg tHins he can to help in this emergency.
I think the governmen{ fthemselves of his services and I

know thet he will be veky valueble/ Jf put in the right place.

erefdre de'not think it is a question of volun-
e nearest &gency. It seems to me thet it would he worth
your whilg/to talk overA with him his experience &and call him to the

him, he will come to 7ieshington at any time.
to interview him, let me know and I shall f.end
Fou designate.

If you are
him to whomever

With kindest regards, I am

Yours truly,

JOHN A. EOLABIRD

u
BN

THL MAYOi

HICAGO

Jaruary 29, 1942

1sorn
or. Boar:!

The bearer, Mr. lenry Crown, is Presiceat
& principal owmer ol tne Material Service Company

boats in use on the lzkesu and Joes

a tremerdous builain, material and coal business

JRH:MC
vear Don:
ok nas larg
Above: Letter from Jokni in our city.

A. Holabird, noted archi-
tect, to William Rose, arde

dle iz more than the ordinary patriotic
citizen, has natural ability and a v.ry inventive mind.

I am sure that if trere is some place
ior a man of that kird needec ir. your orsanization.

you will Iind him to pe of yreat honesty and sincere

1o General T. M. Robins. nelp-
Marck 1+, 1942,

support of [ lenry Crevn's

I widerctend he is leavin. tor Vashin<ston
touay and vill present this lstter to you.

mszdiﬂg mulitary _Please do not consider this ir the lisht
’ of a political sugrestion; I realize your position
dssignment. and em acting accordingiy.

Wit 14 R .
#itr kirdest recapds and loosir.- for

Rught: I.r!!rrvfrom Mavor
I;dwm‘d/ Kr//_y te Donald
Nelson, chatrman of the
Har Production /ilnzrd,

i suppert of I lenrys

dppotntiient i the Army

fon L L R RN

success in your herve-rackir.; tremnicour oo, I am

P

flrcereiy your: .

Fricar: . oneily

And apparently so did Rose. A few
weeks later, Henry was called in by the
Army for his physical. He was carcful with
his health and he considered himself fic,
but just to be certain, Henry visited [d,
at his downtown medical office. "Doc”
Crown confirmed the strength of his
brother’s constitution, bur detected what
he thought was a svstolic heart murmur: a
mild enough condition. but one that even
so might keep him out of the mulitary.

“Ed jokingly remarked that when the
doctor used his stethoscope, T should just
keep talking and maybe he wouldn't pick
it up,” Colonel Crown remembered. No
matter how frivolous his brother's advice,
Henry followed it. He chatted with the
Army doctor, and made it through the
physical, only to face a far more onerous
challenge: the cye exani.

Henry’s vision was so poor he had
worn glasses since age four. He had been
turned down for service in World War L
How could he possibly pass the Army’s
test? But as he waited his turn in a long linc
of men, Henry saw his chance. He memo-
rized the eye chart and the unvarying
pattern of the young sergeant’s questions.
“I came through with thying colors, as far
as distance cyesight was concerned. But
then the sergeant sat me down, put a book
in front of me and said. ‘Tet's sce how
good you arc in reading.” ™ | fenry panicked.
[-ven with his alasses, he found the print
in the book much too small to discern.
Thinking tast, he told the sergeant he had
brought the wrong alasses. The par he had

were ten vears old; he'd Tett his newer ones

at home. Could he get them and come back
to take the test again tomorrow? The
sergeant reluctantly agreed.

Henry rushed immediately back to
Ed’s otfice, cager for help in dealing with
the latest crisis. At tirst Ed was stumped.
Then he remembered: “There's an eye
doctor whose office is right across the
street. 1 don't know what kind of eye
doctor, but he does have some method
of exercising your optic muscles. The
improvement wont last, but if you want
to take a chance in the short run you
might get the results you want.”

Henry didn't hesitate. He learned the
cye exercises, practicing them all afternoon
and into the night. Arriving at the Army
clinic the next morning, he opened the
sergeant’s book — and amazingly enough
was finally able to read it. Later that day,
Henry Crown was sworn in as a member
of the United States Army Corps of
Engineers.

Thanks to his position as an experi-
enced, construction-related company
president, Henry was told, he could expect
to start his service as a Major. But when he
received his first correspondence from the
Army, he found himself addressed instead
as “Licutenant Colonel.” Now that was an
achievement, Henry laughed to his family:
he had won his first promotion without
serving a dav!

The new Lieutenant Colonel soon
met with Army statt in Washington. His
first assignment, they informed him. would

be m London, England. where he would be
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Tkis Izler)'ped niessage
frem E. R{vl’o/d, chief
of engineers, indicated
that the Corps regarded
Crown’s service at Great
Lakes Naval Base as tee
critical to let kim be trans-
ferred elsewhere. He was
'ar this time rfsponsib/z
for 5950 mullion worth
gf supply contracts.
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enough for me to know I nceded to talk
to the surgeon who had performed the
opcration.

“I saw the doctor, who was an
excellent surgeon at Northwestern Memor-
ial Hospital,” Colonel Crown said. “He
told me there was always hope, but, based
on his judgment, he was afratd Bea had
only three months, maybe as long as five
months, to live.”

Colonel Crown's wife — the woman
he had loved and relied on for 23 years —
was dying of cancer. The Colonel was dev-
astated by the news. Still stationed in Los
Angeles, he tried to come cast as often as
possible: not an casy trip before the advent
of jet travel, and certainly not casy in
wartime. “He'd take unbelievable jobs to
go from LA to Washington, in order to
be in Chicago two hours,” Lester Crown
remembered. “He would ride a plane,
and it would have cight stops, or hed get
bumped, and cverything clse. He was
worried to death about my mother, and
wasn't sleeping well at the time.”

The situation was made even more
poignant becausc of the bravery with which
Bea faced her terminal discase. Remem-
bered Colonel Crown: “I wasn't there for
her first operation. but once she left the
hospital she seemed quute happy. She had
not been told what her sttuation was. that
she could be home for a couple of weeks
and then have to go back mnto the hospital
for more treatments. But soon. of course,
she began to understand whart 1t was all
about. | took a leave every chance | could

get, if onhv for a day at a time, and would

come back to the house and see her.
During those months she must have made,
I guess, a half dozen trips back and forth
to the hospital. It was hardest for Bea

and hard on Les, who was left as the

man of the house. We lost Bea in October

of 1943.”

&
Colonel Crown never truly got over
his grief. Bonnie Tracz, his secretary in the
1970s and 1980s, remembered once when
Bea’s cousin sent a letter she had found,
written by Bea during the months she
had cancer. In the letter, Bea wrote about
Henry, whose feelings for her were so
strong “he would give me the stars and the
moon.” Tracz was touched by the letter
and went to show it to the Colonel. But he
begged her to put it away. “He said ‘T cant
read it,”” Tracz remembered. “And when
I looked there were tears in his eyes.”

But as had been true in the wake of
Sol’s death, Henry found little time to
grieve. With his change of rank had come
increased responsibility — as Colonel
Crown he was made Chief of Procurement
for the Grear Lakes Division, in charge
of purchasing so percent of all marerials
bought nationally by the Corps. It was,
he soon discovered, a monumental task.,

In wartime the US. Government had
become the largest business m the world,
its daily purchases exceeding by far those
of the top corporations combined. Seill,

the Colonel realized, inefticiency and waste
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Transcript of a telephone
conversation between Col.
Kittrell and Col. Brown,
Mardh 18, 1944. The gist
is that Colonel Crown’s
services were in demand
throughout the army’s
wartime procurement
command.
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Telephone Conversation - Colonel Kittrell and Colonel Brey
; o

Col. Kittrell:

Col. Brown:

Col. Kittrell:

Col. Browns

Col. Kittrell:

Col. Brown:

Col. Kittrell:

Col. Browns

Col. Kittrell:

Col. Browns

Col. Kittrell:

Col. Brown:

Col

Col

Tol

Col

Col

h“s(f}ol.
Col.
Col,
Col.
Col.

Col,

. Kittrell:

« Browns

» Kittrell:

« Brown:

» Kittrell:

‘Brown,
Kiptroll:
Browni
Kittrells

Brovm:

Kittrell:s

HENRY CROWN

Washingt
3-18-44, 2130 Pu. "eton. p. c.

Hello, Eddie,

Hello, Colonel. Say I've got some disturbi s
I think it will probebly effect you the sam:gw:;:vs ;hls Morning and
I'm going to make out on it. They called me fronm uilgon't know how
and indicated that on a top priority requirement that fory Personnel
some time ago 54 officers were selected for the job they had filled
time they've added one more officer who is supposed :nd since that
Storage, Transportation and Utilization expert of coatl) :e akPrOdUCtion
Coke.

Production, S8torage and what?

Transportation and utilization of coal and
coke
of Henry Crown, your Col. Crown,had come up I‘or'tahz‘tj; ::i: “ho aame
gnmente

It Just can't be, Eddie.

Well, that!s what I thought and I've looked th
rou
Is he the boss of the Procurement Branch out thez-f;;;l his 0-856

You bet your life, and we've got half the wh

ole Ghief:!
and he's doing a top-notch ' ,01oad out here
e ne ug D ch job, and I've got 'no 8econd who can go in

This 0-856.Thave showed him second in comman
34 d. i tha
probebly before Hastings left. T think t was

And where is this to be?
It's - You know where General Dumm went? (QL‘-’ \’\ELG:(R,J' }\ﬂiﬂ F
- TWNA Vo s ‘QA%MA

Well, I wes just bringing my fi
I gures up to date
he wasn't second in that place, but he was your zﬁ;s;ai was sure that

Well, this fellow won't leave Chicago.

He wes the top man when we took Hastin

g8 awa, and
a whole lot more good right where he is now.y’i'han o}z:e can do Uncle Sem
they could put him. any other job

Itve already spoken to General Robins and :

he said, "well T
them do that to us." And I just wanted to bring l;wselr (e ot k-
and be sure my facts were correct, Colonel. up to date

And T feel quite sure, Eddie, that if he wer
» [}
he would request relief from‘active duty. Biven that assigament

I see.

Because of some family trouble he has here. £
v rrostie e hee ere- CENFIDENTIAL -

Well, I understand
tm: rstand his wife has been 11l - critically i1l for a lomg

He lost her.
Oh, I didn't know that.
He lost her and now it's a question of his family.
I seeo.
He's quite well-off and doesn't have to;work, for the
Gove and
there's a lot of politics to it so thaf BPlilcas is tryingr:’:ergl:; hinm

out right now, and he'
out hf::. » 8 sticking with me Just because I need him and

because there was a lack

were pandemic
of uniformity in government procurement

procedures. The vartous agencies competed
with each other and, as a consequence,
relinquished the benefits that came with

a large singlC purc]msc. Those agencies
employing the most aggressive expediters
generally obtained the equipment they
required, even though it might have been
more sorely needed elsewhere.

“From his first experiences in the
service,” Lester Crown explained, “Dad
came to realize they didn't have people in
the Army who understood the operations,
people who were capable of negotiating.
He used to say when he came home that it
wasn't fair — that if he took the people he
had in the Army sales and service area and
put them up against the vice presidents of
purchasing and the presidents of compa-
nies, the pcople the Army had negotiating
wouldn't have the experience or knowledge
for the job.”

Colonel Crown felt that if it wasn't
logical to rake a business executive at the
age of 50 and expect him to embark on
a career as a military strategist, it didn't
make any morc sense to expect a West
Point graduate — no matter how brave
on the battletield — to become an expert
business cxecutive. The Colonel found a
chance to correct this situarion when, in his
first weeks with the Great Lakes Districr,
he oversaw the purchase of tractors and
other heavy ecquipment.

“Among those manutacturers for

whom we were given responsibility was

the Caterpillar Tractor Company in Peoria,
Illinois,” Colonel Crown remembered. “I
knew the executives at Caterpillar Tractor
because Material Service bought a few trac-
tors from them. They were, along with
Allis-Chalmers, a prime producer of heavy
equipment, and they had distributors all
over the country. Before the war, those
distributors had been given a discount of
20 percent. Even when Material Service
needed parts or end items through the dis-
tributors, wed get a price discount off list
of at least 1o percent. Now, with the war,
more tractors were being produced for a
single customer than Caterpillar had ever
sold before. They had canceled their
arrangements with their distributors and
were selling these huge quantities directly
to the government. Yet despite the elimina-
tion of the distributors and despite the
quantities, the companies were charging
the government the full list price. In the
case of Caterpillar Tractor and Allis-
Chalmers, this amounted to millions of
dollars over the term of the contract.”
Colonel Crown arranged meetings
with the chief executive officers of both
Allis-Chalmers and Caterpillar Tractor.
Sitting down with these men he heard out
their views. By producing exclusively for
the government, the executives insisted,
they were losing their customer base, and
to compensate, the government should pay
them full price, plus a premium. How else
could they protect the interests of their
shareholders? But Colonel Crown got the

executives to view the situation differently.
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“From his first expe-
riences in the service,”
Lester Crown explained,

“Dad came to realize they
didn’t bave people
in the Army who under-

stood the operations...”
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“Ihat last bite of
the apple was the
hardest to swallow,’
the Colonel remem-
bered, “but in the
end, the company

leaders agreed.”

>

He pointed out that thanks to their partic-
ipation in the war effort, Caterpillar and
Allis-Chambers machines would be in use
all over the world. The exposure to new
markets would be enormous; after the

war was over the companies would be
flooded with new orders. For this reason,
said the Colonel, Caterpillar should not
only charge regular prices, they should give
their government the 20 percent discount,
fair reward for the bonanza they were
certain to reap.

“That last bite of the apple was the
hardest to swallow,” the Colonel remem-
bered, “but in the end, the company
leaders agreed. They were decent men,
quite willing to help their country in any
way they could, but since nobody had ever
bothered to ask them for the discount,
they hadn't offered it themselves.”

As a result of those meetings Colonel
Crown initiated, the Caterpillar Tractor
Company refunded almost s1 million
on previously invoiced War Department
acquisitions, and Allis-Chalmers refunded
s1,975,000. Shortly after the checks had
been received by the Department of the
Army, a high-ranking officer from Wash-
ington visited Chicago headquarters to
compliment Colonel Crown for saving
his government such an extraordinary

amount of money.

HENRY  ROWN

I'told him T was surce thar if I hadn't

done it, someone clse would have some-

where a]()ng the line, only because it made
scnse.” The officer, however. no doubt

believed otherwise,

@/

—

I'j addition to his work for the US.
Government, Colonel Crown was responsi-
ble for Pr("'iding material to America’s
allies, including the Russian Army, which,
to his dismay_ received its supplies before
any allocation was made to the American
military. “And, of course, due to that
priority for the shipments to Russia, some
of our own military requirements were
reduced,” the Colonel said. “But I had
specific orders that | tollowed regardless
of my own f-C‘C‘llil’lgs. I presume the commit-
ment was made by our leaders, and all we
could do was follow their instructions.”
Also falling under Colonel Crown's
aegis was the production of “Targets,”
rubber decoys built to the exact specifica-
tions of real boats and barges that would
carry tanks and airplanes. “We needed huge
quantities of rubber for these Targets.”
Colonel Crown said. “That was an A-1
priority because rubber was in such short
supply, so we had to pursuc all the rubber
manufacturers and keep after them to
provide us the rubber we needed. We tested
those ’Ihrgcts once cold January dav in a

deserted arca of the Indiana dunes so the

boats would nort be seen. | flew in an Army
planc piloted by a major general and we
took a dozen acrial photographs. After
developing the pictures we had people in
the offices come in and wed ask them to
compare photographs of the rubber ships
and planes with the real thing, They
couldn’t tell one from the other.” Bomber
pilots, it turned our, were equally
perplexed. The Army and Navy used the
Targets as decoys thl‘oughout World War
11, distracting the encmy from real assaults,
and getting them to waste valuable
weapons,

While Colonel Crown's industry
knowledgc and contacts helped him get
better deals from manufacturers and
suppliers, he was careful not to let his own
companies gain from such arrangements.
The Colonel distributed an office directive
cautioning buyers not to send advertise-
ments or similar notices to Material
Service. And he was cqually scrupulous
regarding other companties in which he
held only a financial interest. On October
22, 1944, in a handwritten note to Colone]
Schmidpt, an cxecutive procurement officer,

he wrote regarding one such company:

Under no circumistances are you to issue any

orders regardless of size to Century Steel Company,
Chicago.

If material cannot possibly be obtained elsewhere
by bti\)ers, p/ms(‘ see e re those parn'i‘u/ar t'nqm'ri(‘s

and [ will attemnpt to pet I/erfz//rdr for vou. This,

of course, is not to be interpreted as any reflection
on Century Steel, but for personal reasons purchases
are not to be made from there as long as I am in

this office.

The “personal reasons?” Colonel

Crown owned stock in Century Steel.

&

e

In late 1944, the war in both theaters was
entering its final stage. In Europe, after
suffering great losses in the Battle of the
Bulge, America and its allies regrouped,
moving inexorably into German territory.
In January of 1945, Franklin Roosevelt was
inaugurated for his fourth term as presi-
dent, then died shortly afterwards at
Warm Springs, Georgia, just.a month
before Germany officially surrendered.

“We celebrated the surrender,”
Colonel Crown remembered, “but less
than one week later a Japanese kamikaze
plane struck the aircraft carrier Bunker Hill
off the island of Okinawa. Almost four
hundred young sailors were killed. That
was a terrible reminder to all of us that the
war wasn't over, that Japan still had the
capacity to hurt us.”

On August 6, 1945, the world was
stunned when a US. Air Force plane
dropped an atom bomb over Hiroshima,

Japan. The resulting destruction was terri-

T CcOPONEL

“That was a terrible

reminder to all of us

that the war wasn’t

over, that Japan still

had the capacity to
burt us.”



- r
fying in its magnitude. When another

bomb was dropped a few days later on
Nagasaki, Japan’s military realized their
C‘l ety LY + .
causc was lost.
By this time Robert Crown had

been promoted to the rank of Licutenant “I did my share of
Commander. He was assigned to the Japa- taking orders. I also
nese invasion forces which would have had did my share of

instructing and giving
orders. And I must
say one of the most

to make the first-wave assault on Japan.
His ship was on the high scas when word
was received that the bombs had been
important lessons I
learned through that
period of military

dropped, and that the long, bloody conflict
was finally over. Bob's ship, along with

others in the assault fleet, returned to port.
Bob was reassigned to the island of Leyte, experience was how

in the Philippimes. where he remained until not to do things —

his discharge from the Navy in 1940. which made it easier
Meanwhile, a few days following the to know how to do

Japanese surrender, Colonel Crown went Legion of Merit, United Statcs, things better.”

to Washington, visited the Chief of the Diecerber 17, 1945

Corps of Engincers, and requested his own

dischargc. His job was done. With the

nation now safe again, he was anxious to

return to his business endeavors and to be

home with his two young sons. The Chief

was sorry to lose such a valuable leader.

But he understood the Colonel's reasons

and agreed to immediately relieve him

from duty.

“I traveled back to Chicago the next

da}'." the Colonel said, "and went in to

) . see the doctor in charge of separations —
Afier Warld War T ey -vecetved-seveeal servace doc ¢ & paration
awards. Among thene was the 1egion of Mot aarded a Caprain. He examined me carctully for
by £t Cieneral Raymond A W heeler. bt of engimeers more than an hour and when he Jot

Ii]l'l)ugli he looked troubled.
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American Campaan,

United States, 1941-1945.
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\anh 20, 1940

T haven't got a good report for vou,”
the Captain said. You've dctcrior;ttm‘i a
lot. Comparing vour health now with the
report when vou entered service, there is
a terrific difference. Your evesight is worse,
your ]wnring has decreased, and vou've vot
a heart murmur. What I would like to :‘]0
i1s sign you into the hospital for a couple
of weeks so they can run added tests and
see what we can do to help you.™

The Colonel smiled to himself,
knowing full well the real reason for this
precipitous “decline.” He politely turned
(I:lown the Caprain's offer, but the Caprain
insisted that after such an exam, the only
way he could discharge the Colonel 110\\"
was if he waived all rights to medical care
and released the US. Army from any future
responsibility. Much to the Capmin{a‘ sur-
prise, Colonel Crown agreed. The Caprain
tried to dissuade him, but realizing it was
hopeless, finally signed the discharge
papers. And the Colonel left his office,
a civilian again.

‘ "My service in the military was an
informative experience,” Colonel Crown
reflected. “I did my share of taking orders.
['also did my share of instructing ;Lmd
giving orders. And | must say onLc of the
most important lessons I learned through
that period of military experience was l:m\'
not to do things — which made it casier

to know how to do things better.”

But of course his experience meant
much more than that. For the rest of his
life, Colonel Crown took great pride in
having aided his nation and the world
during the time of one of its greatest crises.
Shortly after his discharge, the government
of France recognized the Colonel's contri-
bution, making him a chevalier de la
Légion d'Honneur. And from Greece,
Colonel Crown received the Gold Cross,
of the Royal Order of the Phoenix. From
his own country he was issued a citation
for the Legion of Merit, the United States
Army’s highest noncombat award, which

read in part:

In dealing with many of the nation’s outstanding
industrial firms, be displayed tact and ﬁrrgﬁdmss
that overcame many complex problems in connection
with contracts and with the expediting of production.
Colonel Crown'’s tenure of duty was characterized by
his unusual ability, resourcefulness, and loyal devo-
tion to duty. His achievements materially aided the

nation’s war effort.

In the years after World War II. even
many of his closest friends took to calling
Henry Crown by his military title. He tried
discouraging this habit, but they couldn't
help themselves. The title had a ring to it
—_ it fit. And so, for the rest of his life,
that was how most of his friends and busi-
ness associates knew him. Not as Henry. or
Mr. Crown — but simply. emphatically,

“the Colonel.”
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Henry Crown at bis desk
at 300 West Washington
Street about 1949, at

a time when be had
interests in hotels, real
estate, railroads and also
in staying out of the
spotlight.
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RISING WITH THE
NATIONAL TIDE

In the United States the first years after
World War II were a time of astonishing
growth and productivity. The nation’s
military efforts had unleashed its manufac-
turing might; even after the Allied victory
the American cconomy showed few signs
of slowing down. Thousands of factorics
went into operation, turning out goods to
meet long pent-up demand. Refrigerators
and vacuum cleaners, televisions and sterco
sets; train cars, trucks, bulldozers, automo-
biles, airplanes — the list of new products
seemed endless. Steel was needed to fabri-
cate these goods; iron and coal were mined
to make the steel. Tall buildings were
erected to serve the growing legions of
white-collar professionals: advertisers,
bankers, insurers, corporate managers.
These new “organization men’" eschewed
apartment life, prcﬂ‘rring to raise their
families in single-family houses, located in
suburbs far outside the city center. So that
people could reach these distant suburbs,
commuter tracks were laid, as well as whole
new networks of multilane highways.

The vitality of America after World
War Il was a phenomenon the likes of
which may never be repeated. The tidal

wave (){" ].‘II'I.)S}\("T‘I'I}' l'."li?‘ik‘L‘I many l‘li'h'llh'. !_Wllt

- ; : . —— ey Crovnrs Masonne Plhistory Cand
few quite as high as the Crowns’. With [ e S 14 :
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thewr building materials company and other
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aitd kept this cavd afl Bis fife, thoueh b

business interests already expanded into
transportation, resource production and
real estate, the Colonel and his family were
perfectly poised not just to take part in
this economic surge but to play a vital role
In creating it.

Vi
Before he began his military stint, Colonel
Crown, to safeguard himself from any
conflict of interest, resigned from every
business he ran, left every board on which
he served, and even gave up his member-
ship with the Masons, an organization he

had joined twenty years before with Sol.
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After moving to Edgemere
Court where the Crowns
bad a pool, Henry became

an avid swintmier, 1950s.

“The private investor in a high tax

bracket, who has to pay full income taxes
on his dividends, naturally wants low-yield
growth stocks,” the Colonel explained.

“A fund that is exempt from income taxes
should include stocks with a high yield
and a chance for growth besides.”

The plan produced an additional
benefit, one Colonel Crown had hoped for
from the outset: increased employee loyalty
and morale. So striking was this phenome-
non that Time magazine took note of it,
in its business section of June 22, 1959.
“The plan’s performance,” reported the
magazine, “has cut employee turnover to
a trickle. Said a girl clerk, “The only thing
that would make me quit my job now is
a marriage proposal, and I'm not even
sure about that.””

Perhaps the most remarkable proof
of the plan’s success was the benefits
earned by Sid Marks, who had been hired
in 1925. Marks withdrew over $200,000
during his term of employment, yet at the
ttme of his death in 1967, Colonel Crown
presented his widow with a check for

s800,000.

HIENRY ¢« ROWN

“And that was completely from
profit-sharing,” Colonel Crown empha-
sized. “Not a dollar had been paid in by
Sid Marks, or by any other employce. The
plan was the best thing we had ever done,
and it all started the day Jack Rose
decided to retire.”

&

When Colonel Crown took back the
helm at Material Service, people who had
known him before saw a difference. He
was the same hard-driving dynamic leader,
just as willing to work endless hours, just
as eager to cut through to the unvarnished
facts; but his military experience had
smoothed out some rough edges. Whereas
before he paid scant attention to the clock,
rarely arriving to scheduled meetings on
time, after the war Colonel Crown was
absolutely punctual. His clothes improved,
too. First National Bank executive Bob
Abboud considered him “a sprightly man.
in terms of his appearance. He was always
neatly tailored and distinguished." So
notable became this characteristic that the
Colonel often appeared on Chicago’s
best-dressed lists.

Contributing to his trim appearancc.
as the Colonel left his equestrian years
behind, were almost daily swims in the
pool at his Evanston home, and his usual
vigorous walking. But in spite of the robust
health he enjoyed, after the war the Colonel
was often plagued by sleeplessness. Bea's

death had left him with a lingering anxiety

that he found difficult to completely
dispel. Three years later he was able to find
some solace from his relationship with
Gladys Kay, his executive secretary — and
his sons soon noticed a change in their
father's routine.

“Every night the same conversation
began to occur between my dad and
myself,” Lester Crown remembered. “I
would get home from school or whatever
it was, I'd call his office and ask, “What
time do you want Ken down there?” And
he'd answer, ‘Oh, Miss Kay will give me
a ride home.” Then Gladys would come
home and have dinner with us.”

Colonel Crown's three sons were less
than happy about their father’s burgeoning
romance, nor were they delighted when
it resulted in marriage, in 1946. While they
recognized that “Gladys would do anything
in the world for dad,” they were concerned
about her impulse to keep him distant
from the rest of his family. When Lester
returned from his honeymoon in 1950, he
tried to use his key at the Edgemere home
— and discovered that Gladys had had the
locks changed. When Lester or Bob went
on business trips with Colonel Crown,
they were disturbed to see how Gladys
had packed their father's suitcase. All his
clothes were neatly ordered according to
her plan: what he would wear for cach day,
the pajamas for cach night — everything
wrapped in separate plastic bags.

B ¢ N;!d}'s loved Dad and was devoted
as could be,” said Lester. “but she made

him too c]cpcndcm."

Yet Gladys never meddled in Colonel
Crown’s business, and even at home she
was wary of pushing her will too far.
“They had kind of a love/hate relation-
ship,” said Byron Miller, who as attorney
in charge of Crown trusts in later years
had as close a perspective on the marriage

“Bob was never a kid,”
Lester Crown remem-
bered, “not at all
flamboyant. He bad
the kind of personal-
ity just right for an

as anyone. “There were times when Henry
would bawl the hell out of Gladys. And
she took it. Not from anybody else but
she took it from him.”
Meanwhile, with the war over, Colonel N
Crown’s interaction with his two eldest
sons increased profoundly.
Bob had worked for MSC during
his high school and college days. Before
joining the Navy, he helped manage the
company’s interest in the Great Lakes
Towing Company, a firm whose lake tug-
boats provided harbor and docking services
to steamships. But now, with three years
of military leadership under his belt, Bob
moved into a small office next door to his
father, assuming an overall management
role, and emerged as one of Colonel
Crown's most trusted advisors.
“Bob was never a kid.” Lester Crown
remembered, “not art all flamboyant. He
had the kind of personality just right for
an administrator.” And Bob knew how to
see beyond mere details. He was a young
man of vision, not just with regard to
Material Service but other enterprises
as well. Like his father. he recognized that

opportunity could come 1 many forms.
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out any different. As with his first two
sons, Colonel Crown gave John an early
taste of life in the materials industry. “I
often went with Dad on Sundays,” John
remembered, “sometimes with Lester,
sometimes with Uncle Irv, sometimes
just the two of us — we would drive
around checking on the yards. We would
take Bob’s car and Dad would drive —
he preferred it on nice days because it was
a convertible. The trips I looked forward
to most were the ones out to Thornton
Quarry. On our way wed stop for lunch
at a roadhouse where they had the most
wonderful barbecued beef.

“Once I took a .22 rifle with me to
Thornton. While Dad was going around
looking at machinery I set up a target. He
got back before I shot off the gun and told
me that maybe it wasn't such a smart idea,
since I had set up the target right where
they stored their dynamite.”

John attended college through the
ROTC, studying economics and account-
ing at Stanford University. After serving
his stint in the Korean War, he returned
to Chicago to attend Northwestern's Law
School, where he distinguished himself to
such a degree that he was offered a position
as clerk at the United States Supreme
Court, under Justice Tom Clark. John's
decision was now clear — he would make
his life’s career in the law.

Colonel Crown had hoped all his sons
would join him in the family business, but
more than that he wanted them happy in
their chosen careers. “Dad didn't press me

in any way,” remembered John. “After |
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finished my clerkship with Justice Clark
I went to work at the Justice Department
in the tax division. I did thar for two years.
By that time the Material Service—General
Dynamics merger was underway. Both Bob
and Dad wanted me back in Chicago to
help on the legal side of the merger, so
I left the Department and returned to
be with them.”

His work on the merger brought
John into the law firm of Jenner & Block
(Thompson, Maher, Jenner and Bloom-
stein at the time he joined it). John
practiced litigant law for the firm, never
again handling cases involving Matcrial
Service. In 1974, John Crown topped his
career with an appointment to the bench,
serving as a judge in the Circuit Court
of Cook County, a position he still held
more than 20 years later.

&
As business boomed in the years after
the war, Material Service's office spacc at
33 North LaSalle began to feel more than
a little constrained. Colonel Crown, mean-
while, had grown tired of the constant
battles over rent and other matters he
often had with George Luric, whose San
Francisco—based family owned the build-
ing. Rather than look for new oftice space
to rent, and possibly face the same ditficul-
ties later, the Colonel decided 1t was time
for his company to buy 1ts own oftfice
property. With this plan in mind. he
learned the Civic Opera Building was

coming up for sale.

g

“I contactred the owner,” Colonel
Crown remembered, “who was a man
with famil)' in Evanston. We quickly agreed
to a handshake deal on the purchase of
the building — the price was about st
million.” Next, the Colonel visited Edward
Eagle Brown, the president of First
National Bank, to make sure that he would
back the loan. While his trust in Colonel
Crown ran as deep as Hugo Andersonss,
“Brown was not at all enthusiastic,”
recalled the Colonel, “He couldn't help
but remember the trouble Sam Insull had
had because of that building.” (Insull had
commissioned its construction in 1923,
to serve as a combination opera house and
office building. By the time the structure
was complete, the Depression was well
underway, and with it Insull’s incurable
financial woces.)
So the Colonel looked elsewhere,
“on the rebound” purchasing the Mercan-
tile Exchange building, at 300 West
Washingron. With cighteen stories (MSC
used four) and 225,000 square feet of floor
space, the structure more than met the
growing company’s needs. The price was
right too — s2.5 million — since the sale
was the result of a bank foreclosure. The
Mercantile Exchange even offered a senti-
mental advantage: it had been built on
the exact same location as the suspenders
tactory where Arie Crown had toiled
over fiﬁy years betore.
With the deal complete, as office
space was being recontigured, Lester and

his Marblehead Lime group st up a lonely

Mercantile

Bldg. Sold-
$2,500,000

The 19-sto ry Mercantile
Fxchange Buildling at 110 N.
Franklin st. has been
bought for $2, 500,000 cash
by the Material Service
{orp., one of the city’s
largest suppliers of
building materials.

(ol. Henry Crown, board
chaimen of the corperation,
said construction of three
additional stories would
begin next spring at a cost
of about $1,000, 000, to
house the fim's offices.

N¢ present tenants, in-
cluding Mercantile Exchange
members who trade in more
than a billion dollars
wrth of butter, eggs,
poultry and other products
annually, will be asked to
nove.

Prudential Sells

Seller of the buildirg,
erected in 1997 with a
frontage of 180 feet on
Franklin st. and 100 feet
on Washington st,, was the
mortgage loan department of
the Prudential Insurance
Zo. of America.

Present offices of Mater-
ial Service Corp., dealers
in limestone, sand, coal
and other products, are at
33 N. LaSalle_st.

Offices of its subsidiar-
ies, theFreeman Coal ‘Mining
Co. at 208 S. LaSalle st.,
and the Marblehead Lime Ca.
at 5 S. Wabash av., also
will be moved to the Mer-
cantile Exchange Building,
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Chicago Daily
Tribune, October 16,
1948. Henry Crown's
pun‘]mst of the C}:ii‘ago
Mercantile Exchar 196
lvuildmg wds a major
news event for all
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Meanwhile, be shared
the Crown philosophy
on service: “You'’re
the only ones who can
give smiling service,”
Hilton instructed his
staff. “Clean rooms,
spotless halls, plenty
of fresh soap and
linen. Ninety percent
of the Mobley’s
reputation is in

your hands.”

outpost on one of the building’s top floors.
It was a big, open space, without any parti-
tions. Every man found a desk, set up a
telephone line and proceeded to swelter
through the hottest of summers.

The acquisition of the building was
a significant one. Colonel Crown and his
brothers were no strangers to real estate,
but before the war they had bought land
first and foremost as a source of materials.
The purchase of a downtown office build-
ing was something very different: an early
step down a new commercial path. Yet it
was not the first step. That had been taken
in 1945, while Colonel Crown was still
serving in the Corps of Engineers.

Y
William Friedman had known Colonel
Crown for almost ten years. His law firm
of Gottlieb, Schwarz and Friedman had
served as trustees of Moulding-Brownell,
MSC's onetime competitor, and when that
company went bankrupt in the late 1930s,
the Colonel worked with Friedman to
purchase its remaining assets. As was so
often the case after such negotiations,
Colonel Crown emerged with not just a
deal but also a friend. The two men stayed
in contact even during the war. And when
Friedman said the Colonel stayed away
from his office all during that time, he
noted one significant exception: a night
meeting, called by the attorney himself,
so that Colonel Crown could meet with

his most prominent client, Conrad Hilton.

HENRY  ROWN

“Connie” Hilton was a tall, sturdy
man nine years older than the Colonel.
He had grown up in New Mexico, but
began his innkeeping carcer in Texas. He
was often mistaken as a native of the state,
because he possessed the big, open person-
ality and oversized approach to life of a
Texan. On the surface, Hilton and Colonel
Crown couldn't have been more different.
On a closer look, however, the two men
shared much in common. The way they
had been raised by their parents, for
instance. Hilton'’s fatcher, like Arte Crown,
was a “trafficker and trader,” although his
first dealings were in beaver peles from
frontier trappers. Hilton's mother, like Ida
Crown, was a strong, supportive woman,
and she was deeply religious, though in
her case the religion was Catholicism. The
two men even shared an educational back-
ground. Just as Henry had gained vital
skills through night classes in accounting,
Hilton, in college, concentrated on calcu-
lus, noting in his autobiography: “the
ability to formulate quickly, to resolve any
problem into its simplest, clearest form,
has been exceedingly useful [in business |.”

After leaving the US. Army. where
he had served as a lieutenant during World
War [, Hilton traveled to the oil town
of Cisco, Texas, prepared to invest all his
savings in the purchase of a bank. When
the owner reneged, Hilton was brietly dis-
appol'nt(‘d. until he rfcngnizcd a possibly
more lucrative L}Ppt)l'tl.lnif}l In a commu-
nity besieged by o1l men and fortune

hunters, hotel space was scarce, and rooms

were being leased at a premium. So Hilton
put together his first group of investors
and bought the ramshackle, 4o-room
Mobley Hotel.

From the first, Hilton's genius as an
innkeeper shone through. With the opera-
tional savvy of an Irving Crown, he shut
down the Mobley's dining area, dividing
it with partitions to create additional sleep-
ing rooms. He ordered the reception desk
cut in half, mstalling a news and robacco
stand. A potted plant made way for a
novelty store. Meanwhile, he shared the
Crown philosophy on service: “You're the
only ones who can give smiling service,”
Hilton instructed his staff. “Clean rooms,
spotless halls, plenty of fresh soap and
linen. Ninety percent of the Mobley’s
reputation is in your hands.”

After his initial success, Hilton bought
more hotels in Texas, including his first
“Waldorf,” a 150-room hotel in downtown
Dallas. But the Depression hit the hotel
business hard. Hilton's operations went
deeply into debt, just as his bank credit
was drying up. [ At one point Hilton was
bailed out by a personal, uncollateralized
loan from a Jewish hotel man, Harry Siegel
— an act of generosity that lett a lasting
IMpression.

By the time Friedman met him in
1937. Hilton had once again steadied his
balance sheet and was back to acquiring
even more hotels, Friedman had gone as
the representative of a group ol (fhicngu
mvestors who were mterested in buving

San Francisco’s Sir Francis Drake Hotel.

ke Chicago Mercantile Exchange busldig, at Franklm

and Jl‘i_\'f.‘ur\gmr Streets i Chicago’s [ cop, was purchascd
by Material Service Corporation and beaiime s ew
hore m 1948 Price was S2.5 o 1t enabled VS
anid s suberdraries to porn rogether i ~'.'.'.'_§1‘_'",- oftice

bretldiig. Photo taken i 1950
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Henry Crown meeting
with Hugo A iderson
(center), vice prc‘s:'dmf.
and Edward b{gf‘:‘
Brown, prfsnfmr, of
the First National
Bank of Chicago.

thought that sounded like a good idea, and
when I walked into the office, he asked if

[ wanted to join them. The result was that

Connie called down to the hotel and asked
for a table for twelve. Of course, they
didn’t have one square inch of space to
spare. When we got down there the table
was in the middle of the dance floor —
the dance floor was then half the size it
was supposed to be.

“Connie was the greatest hotel man
of all times, but he did have certain blind
spots. During the show every waiter in the
room was serving us. One would put a
glass down, the second would put ice In
it, the third waiter would fill it. Well, they
didn't hire any more help that night, so
the guy up in the corner probably waited
45 minutes to get a pat of butter. [t never
occurred to Connie that this was so. And

three quarters of the way through the

H1
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meal — I'll never forget this — Connie
turned to Dad in absolute seriousness and
said, ‘Henry, how can anybody complain
about the service here?’ Dad couldn't

stop laughing."

&

—

Colonel Crown's relationship with Conrad
Hilton only deepened over the next thirty
years, and so did his overall involvement
with real estate. In 1946, for mstance, the
Colonel took Hilton to New York City
to introduce him to William Zeckendorf,
a noted real estate developer he knew
through the materials business. Zeckendorf
owned a 10 percent stake in the Fairmount
Hotel in San Francisco, and Hilton was
interested in buying it.

“The three of us had lunch together,”
remembered the Colonel, "and when 1t

was over zt‘l"l((‘l'ldﬂl'f- [lll‘Ilt‘t'I oy me .II‘ICI

asked if I had another twenty minutes,
because he wanted to show me something.
So we went in his old, almost broken-down
Roils-](oycc car, and drove to the New
York stockyards on the Manhattan side

of the East River. Swift and Armor still
had plants there. It wasn't nearly as blighted
as the stockyards in Chicago. because they
didn't do as many killings, but it was

bad enough.

“Zeckendorf said. ‘Let me tell you
what I have in mind. We can buy this prop-
erty and remove this blight and build a new
neighborhood here, with high-rise apart-
ments and offices and parks. You're in the
bui]ding business. This is right down your
alley.” And I said, ‘Let me correct you, Bill,
we're not in the building business. We are
in the bui]ding material business. But
frankly,” I said to him, ‘this intrigues me."”

So Zeckendorf continued his pitch,
The property could be purchased for s22
million, with six million dollars down. He
would put up the first two, another partner
the second, and the Colonel would have to
come up with the third. Financing could
then be found for the balance.

Colonel Crown agreed to the arrange-
ment. Still in New York on his soth
birthday. he decided to celebrate by going
horseback riding, a pleasure he had enjoyed
far too little since the beginning of the
war. While galloping through some woods
n Long Island, the Colonel's mount
stepped i a gopher hole. The Colonel was
hurled from his saddle, landing on the

ground with such mmpact that his leg broke

in several places. He ended up i a small,
local hospital for almost two weeks, so
his son Bob arrived from Chicago to
help complete the deal with Zeckendort.
Bob's presence was appropriate, since the
Crown mongy for this purchase was being
raised, not through Material Service,
but a recently created financial entity
called “Areljay.”

“It was a name I concocted from
the first initials of my sons’ names: R, L,
and ] Colonel Crown explained. “Areljay”
became necessary as the Colonel’s net
spread far past the confines of the materi-
als businesses. He became increasingly
frustrated with Ed and Irving’s relentless
questions, posed every time he embarked
on a new transaction. This Socratic
approach, which served Irving so well as
operational head, was too ponderous for
the kinds of fast-paced decisions the
Colonel was now making on a regular
basis. Sometimes he didn't have all the
answers. While Colonel Crown was always
well informed, he often acted on sugges-
tions from men he trusted, or even —
more disconcerting to Irving — on
instinct. Not that Irving or Ed didn't
trust their brother’s instincts. They most
certainly did, and Colonel Crown knew
that if he insisted on a family investment.
his brothers would go forward in spite
of their qualms. But the Colonel didn't
like to force the issue that wav. And so.
to invest with more autonomy, he decided

to set up Areljay.



“The Colonel bad
a rare vision, ”

Klutznick later said,

“an ability to move
bola’!y where other

men might have been
cautious,”

But in the case of Zeckendorf's East
River deal, Areljay’s coffers (along with
Colonel Crown’s private funds) were
800,000 short. To find this extra cash,
rather than going to First National Bank,
where he was worried about Ned Brown’s
characteristic caution, the Colonel turned
to someone who had backed him once
before. More than twenty years before.

“I thought of Mr. Klein,” Colonel
Crown remembered. It was the same Mr.
Klein who had scolded him in 1922 when
he asked to borrow money from a friend
of Bea Crown’s, and then ended up lending
him the money himself. Klein had kept in
touch with Colonel Crown over the years,
though the Colonel never did dare to use
his first name.

“I picked up the telephone and called
Mr. Klein, whose office was on LaSalle
Street, between Washington and Randolph.
I said, ‘I will tell you why I'm calling.” He
said, T'm glad for you to call me for any
reason.’ ] told him I wanted to find out
how he was, but also because I needed
money. He said, “Well, I'm not surprised.
You've been in that position before. What
do you need? ‘Oh, not much,’ I said,
‘about a million dollars. He asked when
I needed it. I told him in the next fifteen
minutes.”

Klein made the loan and the deal
went through.

Several months later, Colonel Crown
received a phone call from Zeckendorf,
who was in Chicago. He asked: “Henry,
how would you feel if we were to sell that

property and double our moncy.”
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“Id feel very good,” Colonel Crown
replied, “but we aren't doing that. of
course. We're going ahcad with it and the
very beautiful development, which I think
is a hell of a lot better than just selling
to make a profit.” )

“I thought you would say that,” said
Zeckendorf. He then described how
Nelson Rockefeller had found him ar a
restaurant the night before. He wanted
to buy the property, Rockefeller had
explained, so he could donate it to the
U.S. government, to serve as a site for
the newly created United Nations.

“T'll never forget my answer to that,”
recalled the Colonel. “I said, Bill, I wish
to hell I had thought of it first.”

At the time he started partnering with
Hilton and Zeckendorf, Colonel Crown
began investing with another man in real
estate, perhaps the most visionary of them
all: Philip Klutznick. Trained to practice
law as a young man in Omaha, Nebraska,
Klutznick had been put in charge of the
city’s New Deal program for slum clear-
ance. During the war he was enlisted to
oversee national efforts to build temporary

housing for defense workers; it was this
role which led to his interest in real estate.

One afternoon Klutznick called
together a group of prominent business-
men to share with them his idea for what
he called “Park Forest™: an immense.

self-contained city-within-a-city to be

constructed in a cornficld west of Chicago.

Klutznick's audience was mmpressed by
his fervor and the boldness of the plans

he had concerved with Jerry Toebel. his

architect, but only two men were willing
to risk an initial investment. One of the
men was Colonel Crown.

“The Colonel had a rare vision,”
Klutznick later satd, “an abtity to move
boldly where other men might have been
cautious.” When Klutznick asked how
large an interest Material Service mighe
take, Colonel Crown explamed that it
couldn’t take any interest. Instead he would
lend Klutznick money, junior to his
other financing.

“We were often offered partictpation
in the development of offices, shopping
centers and many other businesses,’
Colonel Crown explained. “but we made
it a policy not to accept those mnvitations,
on the premise that we would then be
competitive with our customers for
materials. It we were their competitors,
why should they buy from us? With Park

Forest, we would have done far betrer had
we taken the stock interest, instead of
making the loan, but I felt we couldn't
do that at the time.”

Construction of the Park Forest
development spanned 15 years. After hun-
dreds of concrete foundartions had been
poured, Klutznick nearly had to suspend
his operation because, in the booming

19508, he faced an immment shortage of
concrete. Klutznick urged Colonel Crown
to provide him a larger allotment, but the

Colonel demurred. He was obligated, he

explained, to s other Tongtime customers,

many of whom he had supplied since the
1930s. Klutznick remimded Colonel Crown

of his own financial stake. Without timely

assistance, much of the Colonel’s own
moncy would be lost. Yet this argument
had lictle effect.

So Klutznick took another tack.

If Park Forest went unfinished, he said,
its investors would only lose money, but
Klutznick himself would lose his repura-
tion. his honor. After all, he had pledged
that the project would not fail. This appeal
moved the Colonel in a way the notion
of lost money never could. He instructed
Irving to tind the needed concrete, divert-
ing quantitics from other jobs wherever
he could find it, until Park Forest was
finally completed.

In the years following the project.
the Crowns joined Klutznick in a company
called Urban Investment & Development
Company, which went on to create Water
Tower Place and River Oaks shopping
complex, and buy and manage the Qak-
brook and Old Orchard shopping

centers as well.

&)

==
During the war, Colonel Fred Sherrill
had been assigned to Washington, respon-
sible for procurement of spare parts for
the Army. Out of the constant stream of
l;c received, one pattern emerged

reports
ued him: in Chicago, a man

which intrig
named Colonel Henry Crown was buying

more parts for less money than any other

officer in the country. Colonel Sherrill was
cager to meet this phenomenon and thank

him face-to-face for his superlative eftores.
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“‘Being a farmer,
you're in partnership
with God,” Bob would
say,” remembered his
wife, Joanne. “He
would tell me very
often that if he had
known as a young
man what be knew
later in life, he would
bave studied agricul-

ture or forestry.”

But although they corresponded often,

the two men’s paths never crossed during
the war. Then one day in the late 19405

a visitor stopped by at the offices of ].G.
Boswell Company in Arizona, where
Colonel Sherrill, now a civilian, was in
charge of a large cotton-farming operation.

“There’s someone here by the name
of Henry Crown,” Sherrill’s secretary
announced through the intercom.

“If that's Henry Crown from Chicago,
send him in!" came the delighted reply.

Colonel Crown, it turned out, was
on business in Tucson. He too had been
curious about meeting his onetime fellow
officer and had stopped by on the off
chance that he might find him. On that
day Colonel Crown and Sherrill struck
up a warm, pcrsonal friendship, which —
typically for Colonel Crown — led to a
new kind of business opportunity. Colonel
Sherrill held a position on the Arizona
State Water Board and carpooled to
meetings every month with another board
member, an ambitious young farmer
named Keith Walden.

“You know, Keith,” Sherrill told him
during one of their drives, “you could
handle more land. If you want a financial
partner I know a man who could be a very
excellent one — Henry Crown.” A few
months later Walden discovered the Conti-
nental Farm, prime acreage for sale 25 miles
south of Tucson. When Sherrill learned of
his interest in the property he said, “let me
call Henry up,” and quickly got Colonel

Crown on the line.
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“How much moncy do vou want
and when do you want it;” the Colonel
asked Walden. Startled by this direct,
no-nonsense approach, Walden asked for
more time to consider. T hree davs later,

a cashier’s check arrived at Sherrill’s office.
written to Walden in the amount of
$§500,000.

“What should I do with it?" Colonel
Sherrill wanted to know.

“Send it back!" Walden instantly
replied. ‘

Instead, Sherrill put the money in a
trust account, acting as trustee himself,
And indeed, after thinking about it Walden
did use the funds to invest in the new land.,
repaying Colonel Crown with stock in his
Farmers’ Investment Company (FICQO),

Farming wasn't entirely new to the
Crowns, but never before were they
involved on such a scale. The FICO
investment appealed especially to Bob
Crown, who took a personal interest in
all the family’s land holdings. In April of
1953, Walden gort a telephone call from the
El Dorado Ranch in Arizona, where Bob
was vacationing with Joanne.

“I believe we're partners,” Bob told
Walden, and made arrangements to visit
his farm later that day.

“One of Bob's great loves was
Farming," Walden remembered. “Fle had
a natural inquisitiveness about how plants
grew and the most minute details about
raising animals. Every vacation he could.
he spent here.” Bob dc\'r]n]u'\i a close
f'_l‘lt‘ndship with Walden and las fannly,

The spring and fall visits to Arizona were

high points of his year: a time to rejuve-
nate his spirits through direct interaction
with nature.

. “'Being a farmer, you're in partnership
with God.' Bob would say,” remembered
his wife, Joanne. “He would tell me very
often that if he had known as a young 1'11311
what he knew later in life, he would have
studied agriculture or forestry.”

The Waldens systematically planted
sample crops along the road to Tucson,
to see which would thrive best and which
would reap the most rewards in available
markets. Based on the results from such
testing, Bob helped the Waldens decide,
in the carly 1960s, to focus their efforts
on growing and processing pecans. FICO
shelled, packaged and sold the product:
NOt just its own crops, but pecans grown
on other farms, The operation became the
[al‘gest of its kind in the world.

&I
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In addition to these purchases in farming
;md.rcal estate, Colonel Crown cuntinuc:‘l
buying in the stock and bond markets.
Beyond investments for Material Service's
pmﬁr-:-‘.haring plan, he began to accumulate
2 W!dc-ranging portfolio for the Crown
family 1eself,

“Instead of going to the racetrack,”
Lester Crown explamed, “Dad’s fun was
in gambling in the stock market, He had
asensitivaty for stocks thar was unique.
He wasn't an analyst, going through the
history of the company, the statistical

material as such. He simply had a fecling

for companies, for industries and for
management. Management was the most
important, because of his feeling for
people. He came to know many of the
heads of corporations, and understood
from that knowledge whether or not a
company was well managed.

“What was wonderful was the way
he could buy a stock at the last tick down,
buy it just about when it hit bottom. Just
intuitively he would say, ‘No, we aren’t
going to do it today.” He wouldn't discuss
that with Bob or Milt [Falkoff] or me. He
played with the market and did the buying
and selling himself, so a lot of our portfo-
lio acquisitions which are heterogeneous
and which in some cases had absolutely
no rhyme or reason were his own intuitive
feel of the market. He had a story on every
security and why he had purchased ie.”

One of the most curious stories —
and certainly the longest running — began
in 1946, when Colonel Crown suffered his
horse riding accident. Returning home to
convalesce, he busied himself by reading
histories and biographies, as well as finan-
cial material about various companies.
From a broker in New York came informa-
tion about the Rock Island Railroad, which
was going through a bankruptcy reorgani-
znti(;n. As a result of this dire financial
condition, the railroad’s bonds were selling
for as low as 3o cents on the dollar. And
Colonel Crown was intrigued. He calcu-
lated that the Rock Island’s value in track.
rolling stock. real estate and right-of-way

far exceeded irs labilives, More cthan that
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]'J'rt'f”_”‘.' Crown (back row

n‘:’:‘m‘f_fmm v.g!“f with
the board of the Rock
Island Railvoad. Crown
quietly became the second-
f:'ng?a'sf stockbolder in the
Rock Island in 1950.

however, the venerable old railroad —
begun in 1846, and the subject since then
of so much legend and song — appealed
to the Colonel’s imagination. From his
earliest boyhood, he had been fascinated
by railroads.

“There was a railroad team track not
far from our house on Milwaukee Avenue,”
Colonel Crown remembered. “I would lie
in bed awake, hearing the whistles and the
bells of the locomotives, and think how
exciting it would be to drive them back
and forth across the country.”

He had already acquired substantial
holdings in several other railroads, includ-
ing the St. Louis—San Francisco and the
B & O, which hauled quarry product out
of Thornton. And now he started buying
up the Rock Island bonds. Still bedridden
at home with his broken leg, Colonel

Crown would call up Bob, who was in

charge of Material Service in his absence,
and Bob would tell him, “Another bushel
basket of those railroad bonds arrived

in the office today!”

As part of the profit-making strategy
for this massive investment, on December
31, 1947, Milt Falkoff and Lester Crown
watched the new year arrive in the vault
of the First National Bank of Chicago,
as they litcrel“y sw;lppcc] their Rock Island
paper for that held by Jim Norris, presi-
dent of Norris Grain Company. The two
investors were selling defaulted bonds to
each other, because the bonds were going
to be redeemed the next year, and capital
gains rates would be lower than the tax
on mterest 1INcome.,

Soon the Colonel's holdings passed
the s4 million mark. Carl Nyquist. the rail-
rlJE]L.{,‘i [reasurer, :]L‘]“'Illnf.‘\hl‘ll }l!Hl f‘(”'

“going wild,” assuming his mvestment was

based on a couple of uncommonly good
years. But Colonel Crown bought on.
Not because of the Rock Island’s current
performance, but because, i spite of its
liabilities, the railroad’s assets were still
large enough to balance off its debr.

Until 1949, Robert Young was the
Rock Island’s largest single sharcholder.
A renowned railroad investor, Young
dreamed of one day combining his hold-
ings into a first-cver transcontinental line.
And when this plan no longer included
the Rock Island, he started sclling off his
stocks — to Colonel Crown, who, united
with Norris and tractor manufacturer
Charles Deere Wiman, soon controlled 25
percent of the railroad. When banker Ned
Brown, a Rock Island director. discovered
the size of the Colonel's stake, he asked
him to take his own position on the board,
in order to help with the railroad’s reorga-
nization. Colonel Crown resisted assuming
such an activist role until John Farrington,
president of the Rock Island. added his
entreaties to those of Brown, and the
Colonel finally agreed to become a direc-
tor. It was, as it turned out, a fateful
decision, the full consequences of which

would not be felt for many years.

(#
Colonel Crown's position as one of
Chicago’s most promimnent citizens led to
more than just new busimess opportunitics.
Fis friendships with newspaper editors,
pohtcal figures and other civie leaders
.ll'-\ll \J\'}dL‘IN‘C] L'nnxhit‘l"'{l\l_\. As iw ILIL{ L{UIIL'

i the 1108, the Colonel staved clear of

politics per se. But when 1t came to men
and causes in which he believed, he was
not at all shy about lending his support.

A case in point was the Colonel’s
relationship with Adlai Stevenson I11.

The two men had met during the war,
when Stevenson was serving as assistant
secretary of the Navy. Though they came
from almost opposite backgrounds
(Stevenson was a blueblood from down-
state Illinois whose grandfather had been
vice president of the United Srates from
1803 to 1897 and who could trace both
sides of his family to pre-Revolutionary
days), they became good friends, corre-
sponding occasionally and sometimes
meeting for lunch or dinner. The more
Colonel Crown got to know him, the
more he respected Stevenson's deeply
held progressive beliefs and valued his
wide-ranging talents.

Stevenson had attained his government
position thanks to Frank Knox, the cantan-
kerous owner of the Chicago Daily News.
Both men came out carly in support of
American intervention in Europe, n spite
of their otherwise immense poliricnl
differences; so when Knox was appoi nted
secretary of the Navy, he asked the
\'mmgm: man to serve with him. Stevenson
;1,»11'0{:::1. ecarning a national reputation from
|1~i5 strong, effective performance. which
took him on constant missions around the
olobe. But when Knox died from a heart
;[r.lck in 1944, Stevenson soon afterwards
1‘t‘ﬁ|gﬂl\{ I'll.‘“\ PH.\’”IU”. l".‘“.ll‘l!l!'!\k_Y ONCe

aoam to Hhmors.

“There was a railroad
team track not far
from our house on
Milwakee Avenue,”
Colonel Crown
remembered. “T would
lie in bed awake,
hearing the whistles
and the bells of the
locomotives, and think
how exciting it would
be to drive them back
and forth across the

i'(‘I:‘HH'.\'.



Henry Crown with
former Chicago mayor
Edward | Kelly at a
prr':{f{gf;l. Henry's rela-

tionships with political
leaders were !}r’iﬂmﬂf‘r
social, and be was —_—
muddied by bis closeness

to the centers of power,

Meanwhile, the editors of the Chicago
Daily News were hoping to form a syndicate
to purchase the newspaper from Knox’s
widow. They wrote a letter to Stevenson,
asking him to lead them in their efforts,
and once successfully completed, to serve
as the newspaper’s publisher. The role
was not improbable, since beyond being
an experienced attorney, Stevenson had

also worked for a time as a journalist.

His family owned the downstate Pantagraph,
for which he had served as a reporter,

even trave]ing to Russia to get the story

on the nation’s transition to Communism.
Knowing this background, and respecting
Stevenson's overall ability, Colonel Crown
believed his friend would make a first-rate
publisher, and he pledged his financial

support to the syndicate.
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Knox had let it be known that in
the wake of his death, he wanted the Daily
News sold to those most able to serve its
community. Knox’s widow, however, saw
the sale in less idealistic terms. She decided
to consider offers from the Knight-Ridder
newspaper group — headquartered in
Detroit — as a way of stirring up compet-
itive bidding. Colonel Crown urged
Stevenson to match Knight-Ridder’s bids,
but as they kept rising higher Stevenson
balked, considering it irresponsible to
let his backers pay too high a price for
the newspaper.
Three years later, Colonel Crown
agamn supported Adlar Stevenson: this
time with a far more satistyving result. The
Colonel’s friend Jacolb Arvey had recently
assumed the position of chamrman of 1|1;.‘

Cook County [Democratic Committee,

Arvey had served in the military during
World War 11, attaining the rank of licu-
tenant colonel. Inspired by his experience,
he decided that if he did return to politics
it would be on his own terms, “with good
candidates.” The first of such candidates
he found was Martin Kennelly, whom

he slated for mavyor in place of Ed Kelly.
the man who had held the position sim"c
the death of Anton Cermak.

“Ed Kelly was a remarkable man.”
Colonel Crown said. “He could have
served still another term, but after the war
he had taken an unpopular stand on open
housing in the city, and the Democrats,
fearing a backlash, turned to Kennelly.”
The Colonel knew Kennelly was a btjlsi-
nessman of unquestioned integrity because
he had run the Colonel's main competitor,
the Consumer's Company, since the 1930s.
But, noted the Colonel, “Kennelly was an
ineffective man in term of gcttin‘g things
done, because he had no background )
or experience in how the city worked
politically.” t

For the position of governor, Arvey
turned to Adlai Stevenson. After his ElElLlI‘(’
to purchase the Daily News, Stevenson had
gone back to a governmental role, helping
to establish the United Nations (and )
helping to locate its headquarters in
New York, a decision which turned out
so fortuitous for the Colonel . Tt was the
secretary of state, James . Byrnes. who
stggested Stevenson'’s mndidl.'u‘\' to Arvey,
h.lihng him as a “wold mlggl‘lu'—*— and |
Colonel Crown of course heartil agreed.

When Stevenson. after much CIrcumspec-

tion, finally decided to throw his hat into
the ring, the Colonel quickly contributed
to his friend’s campaign, in spite of
believing victory was unlikely.

“Illinois was known as a Republican
state,” Colonel Crown remembered,

“but Adlai fought hard against an incum-
bent governor and ended up winning by
a goodly margin. He was an exceptional
man and made a fine governor.” Among
the reforms Stevenson instituted during
his term was reducing poIitical patronage
jobs. Arvey helped to push the legislation
through, in spite of the flack he took
from fellow party members.

In 1952, when Stevenson was recruited
by the Democratic Party to run against
General Dwight D. Eisenhower for
prcsiclent, Colonel Crown was yet again
a fervent supporter. The Colonel was
heartbroken by Stevenson's defeat, and
on November 6, just a few days after the
clection, he let his feelings be known in
a letrer:

My dear Governor:

May I avail myself of this opportunity to puf into
writing what [ am certain millions of Americans
now know, You are greater in defeat than most men

can possibly be in glorious victory. Beginning with

the acceptance speech on the night of vour nomination,

that thrilled both Democrats and Republicans alike
.'f:rongfmm the nation, and m:fmg with H','-c‘_f"n'r_cnf.-'
chat on election eve, you elevated the level of cam-
patgning 10 heights beretofore wiknown. Your most
capable, effective, honest and sicere campaign for
the P;v,-_.-;.-{;-m'\' established a !"n';':‘:f;‘m that will

reraiin ol ~'!'.‘mu{g c‘\'lrml;u":' for American J:!uch‘.!':f‘.
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correspondence dating from the 1950s that
was at least 1o years ahead of its time,”
Susan said. “Uncle Bob funded all sorts
of civil rights causes, all sorts of open
housing work. He was funding the
NAACP, the United Negro College Fund
— it was clear that racism was foremost
on his mind.”

For Bob, giving money was just
the start of his community service. He
became personally involved in many of
his causes, no matter how local or small.
If he arranged for the family to fund a
Boy Scout camp, he would visit the camp
and walk the land. When the family gave
the funds to create a new gallery within
Chicago’s famed Art Institute, Bob
reviewed the plans himself with the
museum staff. “He was a quiet hero,”
said Susan Crown.

No matter how the Crown charities
were generated, who decided what to give
or who oversaw the giving, the funding
always came from one place: the family.
As in their business, while there was room
for individual ideas and initiative, philan-
thropy for the Crowns was a cooperative
concern, and it remained so with each
of the succeeding generations.

&

No matter how his life changed in the
years after the war, Colonel Crown still saw
himself in modest terms. He was, after all,

still a “sand-and-gravel man.” It wasn't so

FIFSRY (ROWS

long ago that hed been called from the
formal party and had driven supplics to

a job site, still wearing his tuxedo. But now
the tuxedos were worn far more often, and
other men were in place who could rake
care of such emergencies. Colonel Crown,
in fact, was often gone from the city, on
business trips to New York, Washington,
St. Louis, and Los Angeles. During winters
he began regularly vacationing in Florida.
He sent his mother, Ida, to Miami for the
whole winter scason. Sometimes Lester and

Bob would fly down, meet their father and

ship out for some dccp—sc;l ﬁshing a
new favorite sport. Other times Colonel
Crown and Gladys visited Boca Raton, in
the 1940s and 1950s one of the country’s
most elegant resorts. It was there that
Lester met Renee Schine.

Renee was the daughter of Meyer
Schine, another self-made man who had
worked his way up from nothing, building
a ];ll'g(‘ [ast Coast motion picture theater
chain. When an antitrust suit was brought
against him by drive-in theater owners,
Schine shifted his investments to hotels,
purchasing the Roney Plaza in Miami
Beach, the Ambassador Hotel in [Los
Angeles, the Boca Rotan Hotel and many
others. Schine knew Colonel Crown from
his work with Conrad Hilton, and also
because the Colonel had taken a scat on
the Columbia Pictures Board of Directors.
Famed movie men Harry Cohn and Joc
Schenck were just some of the friends the
two men shared in common. And soon

they would share a lot more.

Renee met Lester along with his father.
and [‘]1{']1‘ wias no t]llt‘f’*[l‘t"}]] \\'hl.) L‘Q'I'ngi”. I'J.L‘l'
attention at first. "I thought | fenry Crown
was terrific,” Renee remembered. "He
mesmerized me. He was just that kind
of charismatic man — {rom his SINCeTity,
his modesty. He had a wonderful way of
talking to you, of 1‘::;111}' mnking vou feel
you were center stage.” But as the evening
wore on, [ester had his chance to demon-
strate his own charms. He and Renee began
to sec cach other often from that time, and
in 1950 the two were married.

In spite of his stature in the business
community, Colonel Crown remained
unknown to the general public. Few of
his accomplishments were reported m the
press. How many readers, after all, were
interested in the building material trade,
or in railroads, or lime and coal produc-

tion? Hotels and real estate fired the public
imagination, but in those endeavors the
Colonel’s partners, espectally Hilton,
received the lion's share of the attention.
Which was fine with Colonel Crown.
He loathed public speaking, and while
he could effortlessly charm a roomful
of people, at any gatherig he was always

among the first to leave. He didn't need

the spotlight and in fact did his best to stay

out of it. But as the decade of the 1950s
progressed, and his busimess entered

a dm‘ing period of transition, (€ olonel
(..I‘()\"\«"” f‘{)[l”L‘I \llk‘h dnonvinily n'i'l.lt'l\ h-“\{{‘]'
to mamtam. Soon, mevitably, the spothight

l?{'}_‘.’!ﬂ Loy sWing m Ill\ drrm'llnn.




As highway construction around
Chicago exploded, Material Service kept
pace by expanding its network of Redi-
Mix plants. “That’s when I saw the
Colonel for the very first time,” Lauwereins
remembered. “We were rushing to get
a plant up at Yard 41, sometimes working
seven days a week — six was normal. And
one Saturday, George Lenzie came by, and
he said to me, ‘Morrie, have you ever met
the Colonel?’ I looked and there was this
fellow in an old Marblehead Lime cap —
the kind they used to give away. He was
a legend by then, and I was amazed to see
such a down-to-earth guy.”

In spite of MSC'’s almost continual
expansion, the Crowns had, until Redi-
Mix, stayed with their policy of hiring
out needed delivery trucks, leaving the
responsibilities of ownership to the owner-
drivers. But with the advent of Redi-Mix,
this approach could no longer be sustained.
The time had come for Material Service
to acquire its own fleet.

“The first trucks we bought cost
s10,000 each,” Colonel Crown remembered,
“while our trucks today [in 1982] cost
s75,000. Of course those first trucks were
not as large, but they were the biggest
trucks we had. We bought 25, then there
was a question of what kind of paint
would easily identify them. Irv handled
that decision, and every so often | would
walk into his office and he'd show me some
samples.” In fact, Irving showed everyone
samples. Methodical as always, he was
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determined to discover just the right com-
bination of colors — colors which would
define the new Material Service.

“Irv grabbed me one day in the
hall,” remembered Colonel Crown, “and
told me he had finally solved our paint
problem. He brought me into his office,
where he had bright panels of red and
yellow paint set up on his couch. And you
know, it just hit me. I laughed, telling Irv,
‘Tt looks like a whorehouse!””

“Then that's what we'll use,” Irving
responded. The description pleased him.
He wanted colors with impact, colors
that people would remember. In later years,
red and yellow appeared not just on the
omnipresent Material Service trucks —
over 350 by the late 1950s — but on the
company'’s boats and plant structures as
well. The colors became part of MSC's
identity, almost a trademark — as bold
and direct as Colonel Crown himself.

As with trucking, before the war the
Colonel and Irving had thought it wisest to
charter watercraft from outside operators,
construction of the MV Material Service and
purchase of the tug Sol R. Crown being, in
fact, only notable exceptions. But in the
early 1940s, the company from which MSC
leased its barges became financially insol-
vent. Irving stepped in to take control
of the outfit, and Material Service began
operating the barges on its own. After the
war ended, Colonel Crown sought out
Arnold Sobel, fresh from military service
in the Coast Guard (where he had com-

manded his own tank-landing ship . and

asked him to start work on a long-term
solution, beginning with an assessment of
Material Service's Marine Department.

"I took a couple of weeks and looked
over all the equipment and operating con-
ditions,” Sobel remembered, “came back
and said, ‘Colonel, the first thing we ought
to do is build a new boat." He asked what
it would cost and T said, “Well, if we used
war surplus engines, if we used surplus
pumps, we could build a boat for about
s225,000. On the other hand,’ I said, ‘if
we were to build a man's boat to really do
an efficient job and have a good life span,
it would cost us about s300,000." The

Colonel purt his arm around me and he

said, ‘Arnold, you knew us in the days
when we couldn't afford a boat like that —
you go out and build the best boat that
money can buy."”

So construction began on the MV
Irving Crown at Sturgeon Bay Shipbuilding,
the same site where the Material Service had
been built more than 20 years before. The
goal this time was to create a pusher tug:

a vessel powerful enough to push as many
as eight barges, loaded with 11,000 tons
of material.

“We had the Irving Crown designed
to our exact specifications.” Sobel remem-
bered. “We told the naval architects what

we wanted and we nurtured every nut
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Christening party for

the M1 Trving Crown,
lawnched August 29,
1952. Left to right:
Gladys Crown, Chicago
mayor Marttn H
Kennelly, Henry Crown,
Arnold Sobel, Renee
Crown, Berte Sobel



and bolt. That boat was built like a brick
you-know-what and its operating history
proves it.” (The boat was still in operation
in 1996.)
Like the MV Material Service, the

MV Irving Crown was launched (on August
29, 1952) with considerable fanfare. Mayor
Kennelly was present, as were many of
Sobel’s fellow Coast Guard officers. Sobel’s
wife, Bette, christened the vessel, while
Mayor Kennelly, Colonel Crown and
Gladys stood with her on the pilot
house deck.

And this was only the beginning of
MSC’s marine expansion. During the war
Irving had acquired surplus barges from a
local defense contractor. Because of short-
ages in steel, the vessels were constructed
from wood, “and they sure were a pain in
the neck to operate,” said Sobel. “They
had a habit of sinking — I can remember
seven-to-eight specific jobs where we had
to go out and salvage barges that had gone
right to the bottom. The joke around the
whole marine fraternity was ‘Trving and his
wooden barges.” So the next thing I said to
the Colonel was, “We need to build new
barges.’ He said ‘Go ahead,” and we started
building heavy-duty steel barges.”

Material Service’s fleet, which stood
at 30 after the war, was modernized and
expanded to go barges and seven pusher
tugs by 1954, when 30 barges were added
at a cost of s50,000 each. The Marine
Department itself was expanded, too.
Located at Romeoville, Illinois, just near

the sanc[-and-gravel pit at Lockport, it
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boasted its own shipyard with maintenance
shops, dispatchers and radio equipment,
and a commissary. Arnold Sobel was put in
charge of the entire operation, supervising
a crew of 125 men. While the Marine
Department’s primary function was to
serve MSC's transportation needs, it oper-
ated in many respects like an autonomous
unit, leasing idle boats to any company that
needed them, the boats sometimes going

as far south as St. Louis.

Y

—_—

While they strengthened their core busi-
ness at Material Service, the Crowns kept
expanding the rest of the resource group.
After the war, under the supervision of
Frank Nugent, Colonel Crown invested
millions of dollars into the Freeman Coal
Mining Company, to rehabilitate its two
existing mines. For financing he went to
the Continental Bank instead of First
National, since Continental had a history
of lending to Freeman. (Colonel Crown
took the same approach with Marblchead
Lime, retaining Its previous association
with Harris Bank.) In 1948, the Colonel
purchased 26,000 acres near Farmersville,
Illinois, land which had sat unused since
World War [, when it was abandoned by
the German company that previously
owned it. Below this land lie thick veins
of bituminous coal, but it was accessible
On]y by dl:'ep—shaﬁ mining.

“We got to thinking that new methods
of washing and drying coal might make

this land pay,” Colonel Crown told a

reporter from the Chicago Daily News. *We
made the government a si30,000 offer,
which was s100,000 more than anyone
else had bid.”

The Colonel next turned to the major
ucility companices, foremost among them
Commonwealth Edison (once the domain
of Samuel Insull), establishing contracts
for purchase of the coal. He then sank
sto million into the new Crown Mine —
Nugent insisted on the name — creating
the nation’s largest atr-washing coal plant,
along with 700 new jobs for miners. The
St. Louis Post-Dispatch noted the irony of
the Crowns’ investment, coming at a time
(1952) when “other coal mines Lare| closing
right and left, in the face of lowering
consumption.”

“They [the other financiers | politely
call it bold,” Colonel Crown told the
paper. “What they mean is it's a damned
fool thing to do.” “But at close range,”
the Post-Dispatch decided, it doesn't look
so foolish, putting out 15 tons |of coal |
per man-day; at most mines 10 is good.
Scientific methods and ‘push button
mining’ have made the difference.” The
paper described "a lesson in modern
technology,” provided by a visit to the

(_‘.I‘an Minc:

[1t] began 356 feet underground, m shafts
previously made secure with timbering machimes
and mechanical roof bolters. A supervisor watches
the narrow steel tongue of a sclf -propelled cutting
machine rip o H'u‘_,ﬁh v L_“f. the coal and .\'g‘mf "
hmn“hr{g to the \grmm.f. [hick clouds of hot black

dust emveloped everything Next, the actopus-like

arms of a mechanical loader drew the coal chunks
onto its conveyor belt and from there into a shuttle-

bugey waiting right bebind.

All these machines operate on rubber tires or caterpil-
lar bands without fixed tracks. They are low and
move almost anywhere at terrific speed. Nowhere
did human bands touch coal. No shovels were in use.
No backs were bent except when one of the helpers
of a machine occasionally grabbed a pick to bhack an

unusually large bunk of coal into smaller pieces.

In 1954, with coal profits soaring,
the Crowns enlarged their holdings in the
ficld even further, paying s12 million for
an already fully mechanized company, the
Chicago, ‘\Vilmingmn & Franklin Coal Co.
That same year Material Service began
buving stock m the United Eleceric Coal
(".u‘n'.l,;anics. a surface mining operation.
By 1950 it owned a 34 percent share: in 1966
(icncr;ll Dyvnamics (at the tme Material
Service'’s parent company made a tender

ofter to holders of the remamning ULC

Bag of Crown Masons’

Lime, 1953. Marblehead

Lime Company, a
_\'nf‘sh{:m_'\' of MSC.
mitroduced a line of
.’I.‘\':TIF‘.'HF:TI I{L-'a'llc-”fl'!i‘ ;'I-J'.".".':'

i 1951,



stock, which resulted in United Electric
becoming a wholly owned GD subsidiary.
In 1974 Lou Lincoln, then head of all coal
mining operations, merged the two into the
Freeman United Coal Mining Company,

a division of Material Service.

When he began his career after serving
in the Army in World War II, Byron Weil
decided that, like his father before him,
he would like to find work in the coal
business. Frank Nugent put him through
rigorous training, sending Weil into the
mines, then having him work as a traffic
manager, finaﬂy assigning him to regional
sales, operating out of Sterling, Illinois.
For ten years Weil traveled north to the
Wisconsin border, west to Iowa river
towns, south to Decatur, Illinois. Finally
he decided he had saved enough money;
it was time he and his family purchased
their own house,

“Someone was building tract homes,”
Weil remembered. “They were sso down
and ss0 a month. So I put my sso down and

that night Irving calls. ‘Howd you like to
come to Chicago?” And I said, “‘What's up,
Irv?’ He said, “Well, your dad is 67, he’s got
two salesmen and they're both 70, we need
some new blood in our coal department.’”
After discussing the offer with his wife,
LaVerne, Weil decided he would be foolish
not to accept it. But first there was his sso
down payment to consider. How was he
going to get the money back?

“Irving said, ‘Describe the house to
me,” continued Weil. “I did and he said,

‘I think we can get that back — we own

HENRY « Royw N

it." They were building the homes because
theyd run into a guy who was making
something called cellular concrete. Theyd
build the form of a house, windows., doors
and everything, and then they'd pour it
within the forms and it would rise like
dough. It’s the only house I know in the
US. that in 1955 cost s10,000 and today
costs 56,000,”

Weil got his sso back. He spent a
year in his new position, but found it a
frustrating experience. He couldn't get
out from under his father's shadow. Either
customers bought coal because he was Joe
Weil’s son, or they didn’t buy coal for the
very same reason. “So | went to Lester
Crown. I told him, ‘Either you've got to
fire me or let me sell something other than
coal, I can’t do it.” “Why not?’ ‘My father.’
And Les looked at me and kind of smiled
and said, ‘T've got a father too.” It never
occurred to me that anyone else might have
the same problem. Lester said, ‘Go find
something your dad hasn't done." I started
the oil business that very day.”

Weil began brokering oil for MSC,
selling mostly to customers who were
converting from coal. The operation was,
in other words, similar to the Crowns' first
approach to the building materials business
itself, and as it grew Weil reached the same
crossroads: the need to control his own
source of supply. When in the mid-1g6os
Atlantic Richfield Company, one of Weil's
suppliers, put its Cicero, [llinots, terminal
up for sale, Weil proposed that MSC
buy the facility.

“The Crowns said it looked good and
they showed my proposal to Milt Falkott,
and he said, ‘It stinks.’ But the Colonel'’s
was the final decision. He asked. ‘Do you
think it’ll work, Byron?' I said, 'l know
it will work.” We bought the terminal and
that's what made the business take off.”
With the ability to store 25 million gallons
of oil and to move it on the rivers by barge.
Material Service began selling oil to steel
mills and other heavy industry in a prof-
itable business that lasted until the
mid-198os.

-—
Colonel Crown, meanwhile, was pressing
outward from Chicago, moving still further
into hotels and real estate. Part of the
reason, of course, was his continuing
relationship with Conrad Hilton. The
two friends grew even closer in the 1950s;
Colonel Crown sat on the hotel board as
a director, but more than that, he was the
one man Hilton trusted to support his
soaring ambitions, the one man in whom
he could confide his bold dreams. And the
boldest of those dreams was ownership
of the Waldorf - Astoria.

No hotel in America had ever been
built with such magnificent style: a private
railroad siding in the basement, a private
hospital for guests, six kitchens. 200 cooks,
500 waiters — not to mention thousands
of rooms — the hotel could boast of all
this and much more. Hilton first learned

about the "new” Waldorf (it took 1ts name

Henry Crovwen i the 10505, Dt 1955 Crown s

bolidrgs were estimated ar-sso million by Fortune
m.;\s.-;_‘f.'“' _\..'flllr'\ il \Lih'l'm.'r Serviee were 8o -r_'.-,-',",'.'n
that vear. and Crown bad the second "I‘“'.f"-"-' .",1,-",';._..;.

o the Hilton Hotel Corporation. Sl

o sttt = =gravel
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PHEE N W 1 RaYs L S B R TR U



C.N. HILTON, PRESIDENT

OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT
HOTEL ROOSEVELT

NEW YORK 17. N7 October 24, 1949 the American League pennant. The two world. Its first official lighting (President
Crowns gladly joined him, and late in the Hoover pulled the switch) was like turning
innings the game took a fateful twist — on a beacon of hope in the gloom of the
at least as far as Colonel Crown was con- Depression. But the beacon from the start
cerned. A batter chipped a short foul back began losing its luster. Tenants discovered
gg]ﬁgiihﬂ;zrgagizwgtreet into the stands, hitting Conrad Hilton. its many drawbacks: clcvator's with | “Raskob said he bad
Chicago, I1linois whom Webb had also invited. The papers inadequate speed, poor heating, no air decided to sell the
) ran a photo the following day, which pic- conditioning. Even after World War I1, building on bebalf of
Dear Henry: tured both Hilton and the Colonel. Arnold with the economy booming, the occupancy fn’sfmnfbi, that they
i Here is your certificate for the Waldorf-Astoria Grant saw the plmm. realized Colonel rate remained less than 7o percent. Yet were waing to sell it
stock. Crown was visiting the city, called and it was still, after all, the great Empire for the same price it
I will never forget the great role you played and convinced him to meet with Colonel State Building. bad cost to build. Dad
the assistance you rendered in making this possible, Raskob in person. “Some time after we met,” remem- told him, ‘Colonel
Sincerely yours, . Remembered Lester Crown, who bered Colonel Crown, “I turned on the Raskob, you've just
joined the Colonel ar the meeting: “Raskob radio and heard an announcement that paid me one of the
Z{L/Mé/ said he had decided to sell the building on Jacob Raskob had died. A few months greatest compliments
C. N. HILTON behalf of his tamily, that they were willing later I read in a Chicago paper that a group 11, wver been paid,
President to sell it for the same price it had cost to including Roger Stevens had signed a con- suggesting that I
build. Dad told him, ‘Colonel Raskob, tract to buy the Empire State Building. So would be able to raise
Cféz‘.'ﬁ[  BRY 2 you've ‘jusr paid me one of the greatest [ put any thought {.){ it out’of my min(f. 556 million™
_ compliments I have ever been paid, sug- “This was during the Korean War,
.w’“ﬂ gesting that I would be able to raise Colonel Crown continued, “and perhaps
CNH:ow sso million."” six months later, I was in California when
HeL. Yet the prospect of owning the world- I got a call from Arnold Grant, who asked

Letter from Conmvad FHhilton to ey Crown, Otober

famous landmark had finally begun to
intrigue Colonel Crown. Like the Waldorf,
the Empire State Building had opened in
1931 (in fact it was constructed on the site
of the first Waldorf-Astoria), Designed

by the firm of Shreve, [Lamb and Harrison,
the l.‘-uilding was immediately hailed as an
architectural marvel and later understood
as perhaps the most magnificent and

p{‘i‘]mps the most essential evocation of

if I might still be interested in the Empire
State. I told him I understood that it had
been sold. He told me that the contract
was signed but the investor who was going
to take a large part of the project, 2
percent, had apparently walked away.
There was an additional problem about
who would become chairman of the build-
ing. The Raskob family knew that Raskob

had talked with me, so that although thev

y Y 5 Art Deco dvmgn, Al 102 stories, 1,250 feet didn't know me, []“1}' assumed T would be
24, 1045 Lhe formaluy of the nore did not reveal the y st Arnold Id " ould solve
o g st high, the Emprre State Building was by gapistustory, Araold talditie toapRicinalve
close friendsgp that existed betweear the two men - - ;
far the rallest man-made structure in the
BEEARY C ROW
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Electric Boat’s contracts and finances.
During the war the company built not only
submarines but the famed PT boats, as
well as submarine chasers. Meanwhile, its
Electro Dynamic division served as the
U.S. government’s primary manufacturer
of motors and other marine components.
World War II ended, and with it
the company’s heyday. Or so it seemed.
Electric Boat's top executives, Lawrence
Spear and Henry Carse, both retired in
1947, leaving Hopkins in sole charge.
While recognizing his company’s economic
vulnerability in the postwar era, the new
president also sensed opportunity. The
United States was the world’s greatest
power, and what with the rising Commu-
nist threat, the nation was unlikely to revert
to its isolationist past. Even in peace, the
United States would have to maintain a
strong Navy, Air Force and Army and
stay on the cutting edge of technological
advancement. Electric Boat could be part
of this new era, Hopkins thought, but

not if it stayed limited to making small

craft and submarines. So, armed with
cash from the recent production boom,
Hopkins scarched for ways to v,\‘p;md the
company’s scope.

His first move was to purchase the
Canadian aircraft manufacturer Canadair
Limited, taking Electric Boat into aviation.
H()pkins hcipcd management z'col'g;mizc
Canadair, and soon the new division was
generating the lion's share of the company’s
profits. Military orders increased with
the outbreak of war in Korea; Canadair’s
profits continued to climb. Meanwhile,
in 1950, Hopkins accepted a challenge
from Admiral Hyman Rickover to build
the world’s first nuclear-powered subma-
rine, a task his cngineers J}\pm;lclwd with
brilliance and zcal. Given these develop-
ments, Hopkins felt the name Electric Boat
no longer adequately described his growing
enterprise. He chose a new name., General
Dynamics Corporation. to conjure up an

image of diversity and scientific know-how.
Then Hopkins pressed forward to make

this image real.

In 1953, the same vear he stood with
Colonel Crown on the Rainbow Room
dais, Hopkins moved to vastly expand
General Dynamics with a single bold
stroke: he bought controlling interest.
from financier Floyd Odlum. in Consoli-
dfltCLi Vultee, known more familiarly as
Convair. Hopkins's hubris raised many eye-
Fn'ows. since Convair itself” was already an
“‘Tdustrinl grant. The company ran plants in
[‘(.ﬁz't Worth, Texas, and Southern Califor-
M, manufacturing Air Foree fighters,
bombers and missiles. Convair was bigger
than General Dynamics, yet using a combi-
nation of Electric Boat stock and borrowed
mom“}-, Hopkins found the wherewithal to

acquire it. And this was only the beginning.
In 1955, Hopkins established the General
Atomic Division, to undertake the basic
research, dc\'clnpmcm and production of
nuclear energy. Next, because each of his
Company's L‘xisling divisions — sub-
marmes, aircraft, missiles, nuclear energy
== relied heavily on the nascent technology
of electronics, | lopkins arranged (with
the aid of newly hired executives Frank
P‘“T Jr. and Earl Johnson) to purchase the
i“’t"“lnbt\‘rg—(‘.;u']rmn company, gaining 1ts
tnique and sophisticated skills in this area.

Ihis remarkable expansion seemed
to pay off quickly. As carly as 1953, NASA
‘the National Acronautics and Space
Administration began employing the
Atlas rocket, manufactured by Convair, as

s primary booster of h‘.p.l(l‘(l‘.li.i. [ocated

in Pomona, California, the missile plant
was one of the largest and most efficient
in the country, doing S100 million worth
of business a year. Meanwhile, the Electric
Boat division had developed the Polaris
missile—launching missile submarine, part
of a truly revolutionary weapons system
that established Electric Boat as a leader
in the ficld. In less than ten years, Hopkins
had worked a corporate miracle, trans-
forming a narrowly focused maritime
manufacturer into a full-service supplier
of the nation’s modern arsenal. Now, with
Pace and Johnson's help, he hoped to widen
his company's scope still furcher, into
civilian lines of technological products.
But there was a fatal flaw to the way
General Dynamics had been created.
Because most of the divisions had been
purchased, they operated as autonomous
units, cach with its own accounting and
sales departments. They were like small
fiefdoms rather than fully integrated parts
of a corporate whole. This loose confeder-
ation held together while Hopkins was
in charge. With remarkable abilities and
seemingly inexhaustible energy. he exercised
paternal leadership, roaming from division
to division, keeping his executives alert
and insisting they function cooperatively.
But l"‘lopkins's hold began to ship by the
mid-1950s. He had always been a man
who Pl;ll\'cd as hard as he worked. An
avid golter, Hopkins jetted on impulse to
plav on favored courses — going as far as

Seotland. He was a hard drinker. too, but
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